# NET ZERO WORLD INITIATIVE

Accelerating Global Energy System Decarbonization

# Nuclear Energy Cost Estimates for Net Zero World Initiative – 2024 Update

Levi M. Larsen<sup>1</sup>, Nahuel Guaita<sup>1</sup>, Iza Lantgios<sup>1</sup>, Jia Zhou<sup>2</sup>, Abdalla Abou-Jaoude<sup>1</sup>, and Nicolas Stauff<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Idaho National Laboratory, <sup>2</sup>Argonne National Laboratory











<u>JSAID</u>





DEPARTMENT OF







Accelerating Global Energy System Decarbonization

# Nuclear Energy Cost Estimates for Net Zero World Initiative – 2024 Update

Levi M. Larsen<sup>1</sup>, Nahuel Guaita<sup>1</sup>, Iza Lantgios<sup>1</sup>, Jia Zhou<sup>2</sup>, Abdalla Abou-Jaoude<sup>1</sup>, and Nicolas Stauff<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Idaho National Laboratory, <sup>2</sup>Argonne National Laboratory

**Suggested Citation:** Larsen, Levi M., Nahuel Guaita, Iza Lantgios, Jia Zhou, Abdalla Abou-Jaoude, and Nicolas Stauff, 2024. Nuclear Energy Cost Estimates for Net Zero World Initiative – 2024 Update. Idaho National Laboratory. INL/RPT-24-80552.

#### DISCLAIMER

This information was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness, of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. References herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trade mark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the U.S. Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the U.S. Government or any agency thereof.

# Nuclear Energy Cost Estimates for Net Zero World Initiative – 2024 Update

Levi M. Larsen<sup>1</sup>, Nahuel Guaita<sup>1</sup>, Iza Lantgios<sup>1</sup>, Jia Zhou<sup>2</sup>, Abdalla Abou-Jaoude<sup>1</sup>, and Nicolas Stauff<sup>2</sup>

> <sup>1</sup> Idaho National Laboratory <sup>2</sup> Argonne National Laboratory

## **Acknowledgements**

This paper was authored by Battelle Energy Alliance LLC, operator of Idaho National Laboratory, under contract no. DE-AC07-05ID14517 with the Department of Energy (DOE). It was also co-authored by UChicago Argonne, LLC, operator of Argonne National Laboratory (Argonne). Argonne, a DOE Office of Science laboratory, is operated under contract no. DE-AC02-06CH11357. The funding for this work was provided by the Net Zero World Initiative.

The authors would like to acknowledge Daniel Wendt for supplying data and guidance on hydrogen cogeneration modeling, Jason Hansen for providing a content review of the report, and Rebecca Ritter for technical editing.

#### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Understanding and managing the costs of constructing new nuclear reactors across the world is a continued challenge for modeling nuclear energy. Effective modeling requires a comprehensive understanding of the costs involved in building, operating, and decommissioning a reactor. In addition to cost considerations, capacity expansion models must also incorporate operational factors like construction time, reactor lifespan, and the expected capacity factor. However, uncertainties persist due to a lack of data for those countries that either have or have not yet developed a nuclear industry. Factors such as varied designs, sizes, supply chain maturity, and limited construction experience among vendors also create additional challenges in predicting country-specific costs. Therefore, this analysis develops a methodology using U.S. overnight capital costs as a reference to estimate cost projections for nuclear energy in different countries, such as Chile, Indonesia, Egypt, Nigeria, Argentina, Thailand, India, Ukraine, and South Africa. Costs are adjusted into country-specific values by disaggregating the primary cost drivers in nuclear projects. This includes labor costs, concrete and steel costs, equipment costs, and costs associated with import tariffs. This disaggregation allows one to better understand the relationship between nuclear costs and the impacts of localization in the countries of interest. The estimates provided can be used for modelers in each country, or modelers can adjust the methodology with different country-specific factors.

The results of this report provide recommended parameters for incorporating nuclear energy systems into decarbonization modeling scenarios. The values are primarily intended for countries in the NZW Initiative but are expected to prove useful to other related efforts. Both costs and operational metrics are provided in the study for large reactors and small modular reactors (SMR); they are summarized in Table ES-1. Several cost factors, namely overnight capital costs (OCC) and operational costs, are taken to be country specific. OCC is defined as the value of building the reactor in one night considering all costs prior to the start of operations including fuel for the initial core load. The value assumes the build is neither a first nor an "nth" of a kind but somewhere in between and used for a short-term deployment following successful demonstration. All costs are presented in 2022 USD (U.S. dollar) terms.

Parameter	Optimistic	Conservative					
Capital Costs							
OCC [\$/kWe]	See Table 10   See Table 10   See Table 10						
	Fixed Opera	ting Costs					
Large Reactor [\$/kWe-yr]	See Table 11	See Table 11	See Table 11				
SMR [\$/kWe-yr]	See Table 12	See Table 12	See Table 12				
	Variable Oper	ating Costs					
Large Reactor [\$/MWh]	\$11.00	\$13.00	\$14.75				
SMR [\$/MWh]	\$12.25	\$13.50	\$14.75				
	Retirement Costs						
Decommissioning costs [\$/kWe-year]	\$10						
Adjustment Factors							

FOAK premium	1.5					
Learning rate [%]		8%				
Multi-unit factor	See Table 14					
	Construction	Duration				
Large reactor [years]	5	6.8	10.4			
SMR [years]	3.6 4.6 5.9					
	Operational Parameters					
Capacity factor [%]	95%	90%	80%			
Reactor lifetime [years]	100 80 60					
Maneuverability	See Table 18					

Taking the United States as a reference, these values were adjusted for the nine additional countries. The new OCC values for NZW countries were found to range between \$3,000–\$5,250/kWe for large reactors and \$2,750–\$6,250 for SMRs. Operating and maintenance costs were separated into fixed and variable costs. Fixed operation and maintenance costs were between \$4–\$42/kWe per year for large reactors and \$4–\$44/kWe per year for SMRs (the range is driven by labor cost differences). Variable operating costs for capital and fuel were between \$11/MWh–\$14.75/MWh for large reactors and between \$12.25/MWh–\$14.75/MWh for SMRs. For reference, baseline U.S. decommissioning costs were determined to be \$10/kWe-year irrespective of reactor size; however, these costs were captured within the fixed O&M category and not broken out specifically. Finally, it is important to note that the learning rate is a percent reduction for each new unit built and not for each year. This report also provides recommendations and data for modeling non-grid applications such as district heating and hydrogen cogeneration. Discussion on these topics can be found in Section 5.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

EX	ECUT	IVE SUMMARY	4
LIS	T OF	ACRONYMS	8
1.	INTR		9
2.	Meth	odology	10
	2.1.	Overnight Cost and Operation and Maintenance Cost Assumptions	10
	2.2.	OCC Cost Adjustment	12
		2.2.1. Determining Localization Levels	13
		2.2.2. Cost Categorization	15
		2.2.3. Country-specific Cost Adjustment Factors By Category	18
		2.2.4. Equipment Adjustment Factor	19
		2.2.5. Material Adjustment Factor	20
		2.2.6. Labor Adjustment Factor	20
		2.2.7. "Other" Adjustment Factor	21
		2.2.8. Impacts Of Import Tariffs On Equipment Costs	22
	2.3.	O&M Cost Adjustment	23
	2.4.	Cost Escalation Methodology	25
	2.5.	Non-Cost Parameterization Methodology	25
3.	Nucl	ear Costs estimated costs by country	26
		3.1.1. Country-Specific Nuclear Overnight Capital Costs	26
		3.1.2. Comparison Against Observed Costs	28
	3.2.	Operating and Maintenance Costs	30
		3.2.1. Country-Specific Nuclear O&M Costs	30
		3.2.2. Comparison Against Observed Operating Costs	32
	3.3.	Resulting Breakdown of Foreign Versus Domestic Investment	33
	3.4.	Retirement (Decommissioning Costs)	35
	3.5.	Additional Adjustment Factors	36
		3.5.1. Multi-Unit Adjustment	36
		3.5.2. FOAK Multipliers	36
4.	Refe	rence Data on Nuclear Constuction and Operation	37
	4.1.	Construction Time	38
	4.2.	Capacity Factor	38
	4.3.	Reactor Lifetime	40
	4.4.	Nuclear Plant Load-Following Capability	40
5.	Non	Grid Nuclear Energy Applications	41
	5.1.	Cost Assumptions for Heat-only Applications	42
	5.2.	Recommendations for Cogeneration	48
	5.3.	Clean Hydrogen Production	51
	5.4.	Nuclear Power Plant Performance for District Heating	53
6.	Limi	tations and Future Work	55
7.	App	endix	61
	7.1.	Appendix A – Cost of Capital	61
	7.2.	Appendix B – Labor Productivity Differences	61
	7.3.	Appendix C – Gross Fixed Capital Formation Components Description	62
	7.4.	Appendix D – Preconstruction and Supplementary Cost Categorization	64

#### **FIGURES**

Figure 1. OCC (top) and O&M (bottom) cost breakout by foreign versus domestic	
sourcing	13
Figure 2. Price level GFCF by country.	20
Figure 3. Country-specific nuclear overnight capital cost ranges for large reactors (top) and small m	odular
reactors (bottom), shown as 2022 USD values.	
Figure 4. Estimated nuclear overnight cost comparisons for China (top) and the UAE (bottom)	
Figure 5. Country-specific nuclear O&M cost (including fixed, variable, and fuel costs) ranges for S	SMRs
and large reactors. Shown as 2022 USD values	31
Figure 6. Estimated China nuclear O&M compared to MIT 2018 reported.	33
Figure 8. U.S. Decommissioning cost ranges.	35
Figure 9. Global nuclear capacity factor distribution, site-specific reporting	39

## TABLES

Table 1. Recommended nuclear cost ranges for reactors in the United States. Values in 2022 USD 10
Table 10. Country-specific nuclear overnight cost ranges for large reactors, shown as 2022 USD values.
Table 11. Country-specific nuclear O&M cost ranges for large reactors with optimistic/base/conservative
estimates
Table 13. Percent of total costs from foreign verses domestic investment
Table 15. FOAK capitals cost adjustment factor ranges and learn rate capital cost reduction ranges37
Table 17. Global nuclear capacity factor statistics, site-specific reporting
Table 18. Maneuverability and other performance metrics for nuclear
Table 19. Country-specific thermal-only nuclear overnight cost ranges, shown as 2022 USD values. The
upper values correspond with a low temperature reactor (thermal efficiency $= 33\%$ ) and the
lower values correspond with a high-temperature reactor (thermal efficiency = 40%)
Table 20. Country-specific thermal-only nuclear O&M cost ranges for low- and high-temperature large
reactors with optimistic/base/conservative estimates. The upper values correspond with a
low temperature reactor and the lower values correspond with a high-temperature reactor 47
Table A-1. Country-specific weighted average cost of capital by ownership type

## LIST OF ACRONYMS

CPI	Consumer Price Index
DOE	Department of Energy
EEDB	Energy Economic Data Base
ETI	Energy Technology Institute
FOAK	First-of-a-kind
HTGR	High-temperature Gas Cooled Reactor
HTSE	High-temperature Steam Electrolysis
IAEA	International Atomic Energy Agency
ILOSTAT	International Labor Organization Statistics
INL	Idaho National Laboratory
KEPCO	Korea Electric Power Corporation
LFR	Lead-cooled fast reactor
MIT	Massachusetts Institute of Technology
MITEI	MIT Energy Initiative
NEI	Nuclear Energy Institute
NOAK	Nth-of-a kind
NPP	Nuclear Power Plant
NRC	Nuclear Regulatory Commission
NREL	National Renewable Energy Laboratory
NZW	Net Zero World
OCC	Overnight Capital Cost
O&M	Operation & Maintenance
PRIS	Power Reactor Information System
PWR	Pressurized Water Reactor
ROW	Rest of World
SFR	Sodium-Cooled Fast Reactor
SMR	Small Modular Reactor
UAE	United Arab Emirates
WACC	Weighted Average Cost of Capital

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The Net Zero World Initiative (NZW) aims to accelerate decarbonization of global energy systems by enabling partner countries to harness the power and technical expertise of the United States and international industry, think tanks, and universities. Participant countries include Chile, Indonesia, Egypt, Nigeria, Argentina, Thailand, and Ukraine. The NZW also has cooperation agreements with India and South Africa. One key technical pillar of the initiative is an energy system-wide (ESW) decarbonization and investment analysis of climate-neutral pathways. These require key technology inputs (for variable renewable, battery storage, nuclear energy, etc.) to be used in the employed ESW models.

Due to the lack of nuclear energy adoption in certain participant states, modeling costs and operational inputs of nuclear reactors can prove difficult to quantify. Additionally, even in regions where nuclear power has been deployed, data is limited, and estimates can be difficult to obtain. Effective modeling requires an understanding of costs associated with building, operating, and decommissioning the reactor. Beyond cost, capacity expansion models also must account for operational parameters such as construction time, reactor lifetime, and expected capacity factor.

ESW modeling performed under NZW may also account for using nuclear energy in non-grid energy applications. This would include using nuclear energy for applications such as district heating and hydrogen production. The inclusion of these two applications warrants the need for additional cost and operation data.

This report aims to provide ranges of ESW inputs across countries for the cost and performance of nuclear energy with a corresponding justification for each variable. Values are provided separately for large reactors and small modular reactors (SMRs) but are presented as reactor technology agnostic estimates. A combination of literature review and data processing is conducted on nuclear construction and operation costs, operational parameters, and non-grid application factors. Country-specific data is provided developing a cost adjustment methodology that considers country-specific differences in larger cost areas such as equipment, labor, and materials. A range is provided of potential outcomes for each variable in the form of optimistic, expected, and conservative values, as summarized in Table ES-1. All cost estimates in this report are provided in 2022 USD (U.S. dollar) terms.

This initiative was started in 2023 with a report issued that provided cost estimates using a different methodology. This report provides the 2024 updates with several major improvements:

- Base costs come from the latest nuclear cost estimates from a recent detailed study [1].
- Costs are broken into two categories with SMRs and large reactors having separate recommended values. For the sake of this report, large reactors are defined as >400 MWe and SMRs as <400 MWe to match the methodology used in Reference [1].
- Several improvements were made to refine localization amounts by further disaggregating costs using the generalized nuclear code of account (GN-COA) method.
- Costs are provided in heat-only terms to enable modelers to accurately project costs associated with non-electric applications.
- More detail is presented on nuclear coupling for heat applications (hydrogen and district heating).

## 2. METHODOLOGY

# 2.1. Overnight Cost and Operation and Maintenance Cost Assumptions

Nuclear cost estimation is an inherently challenging task. Even in countries where multiple reactors have been built, cost estimation can be relatively imprecise. This is partly because nuclear costs depend on a myriad of factors from regulatory process, commodity costs, contractor experience, and construction technologies. In the United States, various efforts have attempted to produce cost range targets [2] [3] [4] [5] [6] [7]. One of the more recent efforts consisted of a comprehensive literature survey of bottom-up cost estimates coupled with specific recommendations for large reactor and SMR builds between a first- and nth-of-a-kind (BOAK) [1]. Because grid modelers can safely assume that a first-of-a-kind demonstration has already occurred elsewhere, BOAK values are directly applicable as they would correspond to near-term follow-on units (not the ultimate "nth" cost after dozens of units are built). The recommended BOAK values from Reference [1] will be used as the foundation of this report for overnight nuclear costs. Operational cost estimates also rely on data from the same INL report. Table 1 provides the estimated nuclear cost ranges for OCC and O&M costs for both large reactors and SMRs.

Large Reactors	Optimistic	Base	Conservative
BOAK Overnight Capital Costs (USD/kWe)	\$5,250	\$5,750	\$7,750
Total O&M (USD/MWh)	\$26.5	\$34.6	\$39.75
(•••=/)			
Small Modular Reactors	Optimistic	Base	Conservative
Small Modular Reactors BOAK Overnight Capital Costs (USD/kWe)	Optimistic \$5,500	<b>Base</b> \$8,000	Conservative \$10,000

Table 1. Recommended nuclear cost ranges for reacto	rs in the United States. Values in 2022 USD.
---	--

It is important to note that Reference [1] recommends the cost ranges above irrespective of the reactor technology; these ranges are intended to represent costs of baseload reactors in commercial electricity markets including reactors with hydrogen production capacity. Reactors (especially microreactors) deployed specifically for other applications would need to be considered separately as higher costs are expected, which may still be acceptable for the type of applications where these reactors are needed. In essence, the study did not have enough data to reasonably determine cost ranges for specific reactor types (water, sodium, gas, or salt cooled). As a result of this uncertainty, the recommendation is assumed to be reactor technology agnostic at this time, and estimates are not provided for separate technologies such as high-temperature gas reactors, light-water reactors, sodium-fast reactors, etc.

Additionally, these values consider single nuclear power plant (NPP) unit sites and do not account for multi-unit adjustments where costs may be lower because multiple reactors are sited

together and reap OCC and O&M cost synergies. Discussion of NPP siting strategy is typically beyond the scope of ESW models, but if modelers choose to account for multi-unit factors, a methodology for cost adjustment is provided in Section 3.5.1.

Last, as previously highlighted, these overnight costs are for a non-first-of-a-kind (non-FOAK) reactor, referred to in Reference [1] as "BOAK." They assume a demonstration has already been built somewhere in the globe and corresponds to the expected price for near-term following units. The costs are also distinct from a nth-of-a kind (NOAK) estimate which assumes a long-term plateauing of costs after dozens of units have been built (in that sense, the BOAK costs may still observe cost reductions from the effects of learning). O&M costs are presented in a different manner. For large reactors, values are based on existing data for the U.S. light-water reactor fleet. For SMRs, which have not yet been deployed, values are based off estimates.

The high-level methodology used in the modeling behind this report allows for leveraging U.S. nuclear cost ranges and adjusting them on a country-by-country basis to provide local cost estimates, in USD terms, for each NZW participant. To do so for OCC, costs were divided into four primary cost categories—labor, materials, equipment, and other—and country-specific adjustment factors were defined for each category. Said adjustment factors were applied to their respective categories and aggregated to produce new country-specific OCC ranges. For O&M costs, the same approach was used. Total O&M values were divided into three primary cost categories including fuel, capital, and labor. Again, country-specific adjustment factors were defined so for this approach, the method was compared against realized overnight and operational costs in China and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). As noted previously, all monetary units are in 2022 USD terms, for easier comparison, and not converted to country-specific currencies.

The cost adjustment approach used for a given OCC value is represented in more detail in Equation 1 below.

 $OCC_x = OCC_{US}(\gamma LF_x + \alpha MF_x + \sigma EF_x + \theta OF_x)$ 

Equation 1. OCC adjustment equation.

Where,

- X represents a given country
- OCC represents total nuclear overnight costs, represented in USD/kWe
- $\gamma$  represents the percentage of labor costs of total OCC
- $\alpha$  represents the percentage of material costs of total OCC
- $\sigma$  represents the percentage of equipment costs of total OCC
- $\theta$  represents the percentage of other costs of total OCC
- $\gamma + \alpha + \sigma + \theta = 1$
- LF represents the labor adjustment factor for a given country
- MF represents the material adjustment factor for a given country
- EF represents the equipment adjustment factor for a given country
- OF represents the "other" adjustment factor for a given country.

A similar method was used to adjust O&M costs and is shown in Equation 2 below.

$$O\&M_x = O\&M_{US}(\gamma LF_x + \lambda CF_x + \phi FF_x)$$

Equation 2. Operational cost adjustment equation.

Where,

- X represents a given country
- O&M represents nuclear operational costs, represented in USD/MWh
- $\gamma$  represents the percentage of labor costs of total O&M
- $\lambda$  represents the percentage of capital costs of total O&M
- $\phi$  represents the percentage of fuel cost of total O&M
- $\gamma + \lambda + \phi = 1$
- LF represents the labor adjustment factor for a given country
- CF represents the capital adjustment factor for a given country
- FF represents the fuel adjustment factor for a given country.

For both OCC and O&M costs, this process was repeated for optimistic, base, and conservative costs to produce an expected range for each country. A detailed description of how each adjustment factor was built for a given country can be found in Section 2.2.3.

### 2.2. OCC Cost Adjustment

To properly adjust OCC costs, high-level values had to be separated into individual cost accounts following a GN-COA structure from Reference [8]. This account structure breaks total OCC into broad categories such as preconstruction costs, direct costs, indirect costs, and supplementary costs. These accounts are also separated into subaccounts, which have varying levels of granularity. For this application, broad categories and their immediate subcategories were used as they were considered granular enough to provide the level of specificity. Costs within each account could then be separated into equipment, material, labor, and other categories. This enables one to determine the account-level amount of localization and percent of total OCC that could be applied to a given account.

OCC was broken down between equipment, material, and labor as shown in Figure 1 (top). O&M costs were broken between fuel and variable costs (both assumed 100% imported) and fixed costs (assumed 100% local), as shown in Figure 1 (bottom). This analysis does not make a specific inference of where foreign investments are sourced but essentially assumes the imported inputs of the investment would be equivalent to those sourced for U.S.-based estimates. For simplicity, foreign-based estimates could be viewed as being sourced from similar countries as the United States does. The local portion of the investment intends to show the cost savings (relative to the United States) that could happen if inputs are produced locally.





#### 2.2.1. Determining Localization Levels

In the case of localization, it was assumed the levels of foreign sourcing verses domestic sourcing were identical across all NZW countries. In practice, this simplification is expected to vary from country to country, but a generalized approach was deemed adequate for approximate estimates. Future w ind further explore individual countries capabilities to source category. Localization levels were determined based on the authors' expert opinion and judgment of non-nuclear countries to be able to source a given category locally. Table 2 shows the breakdown that was used across for all NZW countries. Within the table, localization was categorized as none (0% localization), low (25% localization), medium (50% localization), high (75% localization), and full (100% localization). For example, account 21 ("Structures and Improvements") has a medium level of localization for equipment, a full level for materials, and a full level for labor. Note that the estimates in Table 2 for labor and material are, on aggregate, predominantly locally sourced, while equipment has low levels of local providers. These characterizations, which are obtained from expert judgments, could be adjusted based on country- and vendor-specific expectations.

Account	Account Title	Equipment	Materials	Labor	Other
10	Capitalized Preconstruction Costs				
11	Land and Land Rights				Full
12	Site Permits				Full
13	Plant Licensing			Full	
14	Plant Permits				Full
15	Plant Studies			Medium	
16	Plant Reports			Medium	
17	Community Outreach and Education			Full	
18	Other Preconstruction Costs				Medium
19	Contingency on Preconstruction Costs				Medium
20	Capitalized Direct Costs				
21	Structures and Improvements	Low	Full	Full	
22	Reactor System	Low	Full	High	
23	Energy Conversion System	Low	Full	High	
24	Electrical Equipment	Low	Full	High	
25	Initial Fuel Inventory	None	Full	Medium	
26	Miscellaneous Equipment	Medium	Full	Full	
27	Material Requiring Special Consideration	None	Full	Medium	
28	Simulator	None	Full	Medium	
29	Contingency on Direct Costs	Full	Full	Full	
30	Capitalized Indirect Services Cost				
31	Factory & Field Indirect Costs	Low	Full	High	
32	Factory & Construction Supervision	Low	Full	Low	
33	Startup Costs	Low	Full	Medium	
34	Shipping and Transportation Costs	High	High	High	
35	Engineering Services	Low	Full	Low	
36	PM/CM Services	Low	Full	Medium	
37	Regulatory Inspection Support	Low	Full	Medium	
38	Spare Parts	Low	Full	Medium	
39	Contingency on Indirect Services Cost	Full	Full	Full	
50	Capitalized Supplementary Costs				
51	Taxes	Full	Full	Full	
52	Insurance	None	None	None	
53	Spent Fuel Storage		Exclud	led	
54	Decommissioning	Low	Full	High	
55	Other Owners' Costs				Full

Table 2. Localization amount for net-zero world countries by cost category.

Account	Account Title	Equipment	Materials	Labor	Other
56	Fees				Full
57	Management Reserve				Full
59	Supplementary Contingencies				Full

#### 2.2.2. Cost Categorization

To separate OCC into individual accounts according to the GN-COA approach, account-level cost contributions for SMRs and large reactors were taken from Reference [1] and applied to optimist, base, and conservative estimates. Next, for each account, the percentage of equipment, labor, material, and other costs were identified using historical data from actual builds and bottom-up estimates. Much of these estimates are the same used in Reference [1] as well as data produced from Reference [9].

Breakouts for direct costs are shown in Table 3 for all subaccounts. Different values are reported for large and SMRs, due to inherent differences in design, size, and deployment strategy. Large reactors typically involve more extensive infrastructure and labor requirements, while SMRs are designed for modular construction and potentially reduced on-site labor costs. These fundamental differences in construction and operation lead to variations in cost breakdowns across categories. The SMR datasets contained no data for account 27. It was therefore assumed to be 100% equipment as is observed in large reactor datasets. Account 28, which is still likely accounted for within the high-level OCC values, could not be extrapolated from the data and is therefore ignored from a cost breakout perspective.

		Equipment		Labor		Material	
Account Number	Account Description	Large Reactors	SMR	Large Reactors	SMR	Large Reactors	SMR
21	Structures and Improvements	10%	18%	61%	20%	29%	62%
22	Reactor System	77%	85%	18%	1%	5%	14%
23	Energy Conversion System	71%	81%	24%	1%	5%	18%
24	Electrical Equipment	47%	20%	37%	18%	17%	61%
25	Initial Fuel Inventory	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%
26	Miscellaneous Equipment	38%	32%	51%	9%	11%	60%
27	Material Requiring Special Consideration	100%	100% <sup>1</sup>	0%	0%	0%	0%
28	Simulator	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

#### Table 3. Percentage breakout for large reactor direct costs.

		Equipment		Labor		Material	
Account Number	Account Description	Large Reactors	SMR	Large Reactors	SMR	Large Reactors	SMR
29	Contingency on Direct Costs <sup>2</sup>	63%	62%	27%	7%	10%	31%

<sup>1</sup> The data survey to determine cost breakouts did not include material requiring special consideration so SMRs were assumed to match large reactor cost breaks for account 27.

<sup>2</sup> Contingency cost category breakout was calculated by taking the total weighted average across each category (i.e., 63% of all large reactor direct costs are equipment, and therefore, 63% of the contingency is attributed to equipment)

To break out indirect costs, a different approach was necessary due to the limited availability of detailed account-level data. While previous studies for computing indirect costs based on direct costs were considered, this analysis utilized a combination of established guidelines and cost-estimating algorithms derived from engineering-economic literature to ensure comprehensive coverage of cost categories. Data was primarily drawn from three key references [10] [11] [12]. These sources provided a comprehensive set of data for both large reactors and SMRs. The PWR12 BE example from the Energy Economic Data Base (EEDB) was used consistently across both large reactors and SMRs to ensure comparability. The data was aggregated by calculating averages across various cost components, providing representative indirect cost allocations for both reactor types.

Indirect costs mainly encompass project support labor, which can be challenging to estimate early in a research, development, and demonstration program. To address this challenge, established guidelines were employed to calculate these costs as a fraction of direct costs, utilizing cost-estimating algorithms sourced from engineering-economic literature [13].

An algorithm originally developed for Generation III+ nuclear plants was used to calculate field indirect costs. This algorithm considers factors such as plant rating, labor costs, and construction duration. The algorithm was adapted to estimate both nuclear island (NI) and balance-of-plant (BOP) field indirect costs. For instance, the formula used to estimate NI and BOP field indirect costs is as follows in Equation 3 and Equation 4:

$$NI = 6.85 \times 10^6 \left(\frac{P}{1,200}\right)^{0.33} + 0.48LN + 4.30 * \times \left(\frac{P}{1200}\right)^{0.5} M$$

Equation 3. NI Field Indirect Cost.

$$BOP = 6.85 \times 10^6 \left(\frac{P}{1,200}\right)^{0.66} + 0.34LN + 4.30 \times 10^5 \left(\frac{P}{1,200}\right)M$$

Equation 4. BOP Field Indirect Cost.

Where,

- P = Plant rating (MWe)
- LN = Labor cost for the NI

- M =Construction duration (months)
- *LF*= Labor cost for the BOP scope.

Similar algorithms were applied for other indirect cost categories, such as construction supervision, design services, and project management/construction management (PM/CM) services.

One key challenge in this analysis was mapping the capitalized indirect service costs between the EEDB COA and the GN-COA. The EEDB COA organizes these costs based on the location of offices—home office (EEDB code 92) or field office (EEDB code 93)—and further breaks them down by service type, such as quality assurance and supervision. On the other hand, the GN-COA categorizes these costs by the type of service provided with GN-COA codes 35 and 36 documenting engineering and management services, respectively [8]. To ensure accurate representation, EEDB accounts were mapped to multiple GN-COA accounts. In the absence of specific data for certain categories, assumptions were made to allocate costs accurately. Categories 34 ("Shipping and Transportation Costs"), 37 ("Startup Costs"), 38 ("Engineering Services"), and 39 ("PM/CM Services") were assigned 100% to either factory, labor, or material costs based on the nature of the services they encompass. This assumption was necessary to maintain the consistency and accuracy of the cost allocation across different reactor types.

The final cost distribution for these categories reflects this approach, ensuring that indirect costs are appropriately represented in the overall cost structure for both large reactors and SMRs. Table 4 provides the final values leveraged in this work.

Account Number	Account Description	Equipment	Labor	Material
31	Factory & Field Indirect Costs	0%	59%	41%
32	Factory & Construction Supervision	91%	9%	0%
33	Startup Costs	100%	0%	0%
34	Shipping and Transportation Costs	100%	0%	0%
35	Engineering Services	100%	0%	0%
36	PM/CM Services	73%	27%	0%
37	Regulatory Inspection Support	0%	100%	0%
38	Spare Parts	0%	0%	100%
39	Contingency on Indirect Services Cost*	58%	24%	18%

Table 4. Percentage breakout for indirect costs by category for both SMRs and large reactors.

Account Account Description Eq	uipment Labor	Material
--------------------------------	---------------	----------

\* Contingency cost category breakout was calculated by taking the total weighted average across each category (i.e., 58% of all indirect costs are equipment, and therefore, 58% of the contingency is attributed to equipment).

Due to lack of data, additional assumptions were made for preconstruction costs (account 10 and its subaccounts) and supplementary costs (account 50 and its subaccounts). Given these two broad accounts represented on average ~10% of the OCC, these assumptions have a lesser impact on the outcomes. Accounts were categorized as either being labor driven or "other" cost driven, and in instances where no data was reported, some were ignored similarly to account 28 in Table 3. For a complete breakout of preconstruction and supplementary costs, see Appendix D – Preconstruction and Supplementary Cost Categorization.

#### 2.2.3. Country-Specific Cost Adjustment Factors By Category

Once costs had been separated into their respective categories (i.e., equipment, material, labor, and other) and localization levels were determined, country-specific indexes were used to produce adjustment factors to convert the portion of localized costs into country-specific terms. The indexes selected for each category were as follows:

- **Equipment adjustment index:** Price level of gross fixed capital formation from the World Bank [14].
- **Material adjustment index:** A weighted average of concrete and steel indexes used. The concrete and steel index were calculated using export price data from the IndexBox Platform [15].
- Labor adjustment index: Different indexes were used for OCC and O&M to account for differences in construction verses operations labor.
  - **OCC labor index**: The high-skilled labor index created with ILOSTAT data for high-skilled workers' wage [16] was used.
  - **O&M labor index**: The average monthly earnings of employees by economic activity in the manufacturing, construction and energy sectors was used from Reference [17].
- Other: Price-level ratio of PPP conversion factors to market exchange rates [47].

Table 5 highlights the calculated adjustment factors used to adjust country-specific costs. Further details are provided in the following sections around the sources and methodology for each category. Note that in the Table 5, a factor of 0.03 for Labor O&M for Nigeria means that the cost of domestic labor in that country is only 3% of the cost from the United States. The same interpretation can be given to the other factors across all the categories.

Country	Equipment	Material Combined	Labor OCC	Labor O&M	Other
United States	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00

Chile	0.65	0.55	0.19	0.19	0.51
Indonesia	0.35	0.39	0.04	0.03	0.33
Egypt	0.43	0.58	0.03	0.04	0.28
Nigeria	0.55	0.52	0.10	0.03	0.37
Argentina	0.55	0.44	0.15	0.11	0.51
Thailand	0.40	0.42	0.11	0.10	0.33
India	0.34	0.46	0.04	0.04	0.29
Ukraine	0.31	0.40	0.08	0.10	0.36
South Africa	0.48	0.50	0.20	0.16	0.43

#### 2.2.4. Equipment Adjustment Factor

Four price-level indexes were taken from the World Bank. The International Comparison Program (ICP) 2021 cycle provides data for 176 economies and their regions, covering 45 expenditure headings with indicators such as purchasing power parities (PPPs), national account expenditures in both PPP and nominal terms, and price-level indices. The dataset includes revised data for 2017, imputed results for economies that did not participate, and annual PPPs from 2017 to 2021. The ICP 2021 methodology maintains consistency with the 2017 cycle but introduces changes, such as linking the Commonwealth of Independent States region through a global core list and adopting the standard approach for estimating housing PPPs in the Asia and Pacific region. The results, based on data provided by participating economies and produced in accordance with ICP methodology, are not considered official national statistics and should be treated as approximations subject to potential errors [14].

The aggregated index selected from the four, the gross fixed capital formation (GFCF) index, covers expenditures for fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment; electrical and optical equipment; general purpose machinery; special purpose machinery; road transport equipment; other transport equipment; residential buildings; non-residential buildings; civil engineering works; and other products. For a disaggregation of this index, see Appendix C – Gross Fixed Capital Formation Components Description.



Figure 2. Price-level GFCF by country.

#### 2.2.5. Material Adjustment Factor

It was assumed that the material cost category of overnight costs was divided into two subcategories: steel and concrete. Following Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT's) observations, it was also assumed that concrete costs correspond to 24% of total material costs and steel to 76% [7]. Concrete and steel export prices were used to create adjustment factors using data from IndexBox, which has comprehensive market data categorized by region and country. Commodities are classified using the Harmonized System (HS), a global commodity classification developed by the World Customs Organization, which ensures data compatibility across over 179 countries. The export price (Export<sub>price</sub>) is calculated as the average unit value of exported goods on a free-on-board (FOB) basis using the formula shown in Equation 5:

$$ExportPrice = \frac{Export_{value}}{Export_{quantity}}$$

Equation 5. Export price calculation.

Where,

- Export<sub>value</sub> represents the export value based on FOB pricing, which includes costs up to the port of departure
- Export<sub>quantity</sub> is the quantity of products exported in physical terms.

Note that IndexBox reported commodity costs for all countries in 2021 USD terms which were then escalated to 2022 values [18].

#### 2.2.6. Labor Adjustment Factor

To create labor cost adjustments, the average hourly earnings of employees by occupation was sourced from the International Labour Organization Statistics (ILOSTAT)—specifically, high-skilled labor for OCC and manufacturing, construction, and energy labor for O&M. The monthly

earnings relate to the gross remuneration in cash and in kind paid to employees, at regular intervals, for time worked or work done together with remuneration for time not worked, such as annual vacation, other type of paid leave, or holidays. Earnings exclude employers' contributions in respect of their employees paid to social security, pension schemes, the benefits received by employees under these schemes, severance, and termination pay [17].

According to the methodology described by ILOSTAT, the time series are harmonized. The data reported as weekly, monthly, and yearly was converted to hourly using data on average weekly hours when available. The data was converted to USD as the common currency, using exchange rates or using PPP rates for private consumption expenditures. This methodology allows for international comparisons by taking account of the differences in relative prices between countries. Data disaggregated by occupation according to the latest version of the International Standard Industrial Classification of all economic activities available for that year [17].

As MIT points out in Reference [7], this approach is relatively limited. Ideally, all construction tasks would be broken down within their respective labor categories, and multipliers would be sought for each specific bracket. However, due to the unavailability of data (both in the breakdown of labor tasks for nuclear construction and country-specific ratios), this was considered outside of the current scope. However, the approach outlined above was still deemed to be representative of potential cost variations across countries. This is because an energy construction-specific ratio of average labor rates is expected to be relatively representative for nuclear energy and incorporate, to some extent, the impact of productivity. This is discussed further in Appendix B – Labor Productivity Differences.

#### 2.2.7. "Other" Adjustment Factor

Other costs, which did not clearly fit into the labor, material, and equipment categories, had to be adjusted using a broader approach. For example, other costs include land and land rights (account 11 with the GN-COA), plant permits (account 15), and fees (account 56) which are distinctly different from constructing buildings and manufacturing reactor parts. The approach used to adjust these costs considered the broader price differences between the considered countries and the United States.

Comparing prices across countries requires converting local currencies into a common unit of measure. One approach is to convert national gross domestic product (GDP) figures into a common currency, such as USD, using market exchange rates. However, these rates may not accurately reflect differences in price levels between countries. To address this, PPP can be used. PPP involves creating a hypothetical currency called "international dollars," which is designed to have the same purchasing power across different countries. The exchange rates used to convert local currencies into international dollars are known as PPP conversion rates.

Purchasing power refers to the amount of goods and services that can be bought with a specific amount of money in a particular country. This concept is crucial for making cross-country comparisons. For example, the same amount of money can buy more in a country with lower price levels than in one with higher prices. PPP conversion rates capture these differences in purchasing power [17]. The PPP conversion factors for each country are presented in Table 6.

Country	GDP price levels relative to the 2022 USD
Argentina	0.51
China	0.59
Chile	0.51
Egypt, Arab Rep.	0.28
Indonesia	0.33
Thailand	0.33
United Arab Emirates	0.61
Ukraine	0.36
United States	1.00

#### Table 6. Price-level ratio of PPP conversion factors to market exchange rates [47].

The price-level ratio of PPP conversion factors to market exchange rates indicates the difference in price levels compared to the United States. A value below 1 suggests that a certain number of USD can buy more goods and services than it would in the United States.

PPP-adjusted international dollars are often more useful than market exchange rates for crosscountry comparisons. Market exchange rates reflect how much one currency can be exchanged for another, but it fails to account for differences in price levels. PPP conversion rates, on the other hand, consider the relative prices of goods and services, making them more reliable for comparing economic well-being across countries [18]. For instance, prices tend to be higher in wealthier countries due to differences in productivity, higher productivity in tradable goods, leading to higher wages and, consequently, higher prices for non-tradable goods like services [19].

It is important to note that despite its advantages, PPP has limitations. The data used to calculate PPP conversion rates, especially in low-income countries, can be incomplete or imprecise. Additionally, differences in consumption patterns across countries make it difficult to identify a standard "basket of goods" for comparison. These challenges can affect the accuracy of PPP-adjusted figures and the policies based on them [20].

#### 2.2.8. Impacts Of Import Tariffs On Equipment Costs

For the imported portion of equipment costs, it is expected that countries with tariffs will maintain them, and the costs of imported nuclear equipment will need to be adjusted by said amounts. The applied tariff corresponds to the custom duty that must be paid by purchasers when importing goods from the United States.

The tariff levels were sourced from the United Nations Trade and Development (UNCTAD) and the World Trade Organization. They specifically measure tariff levels on "nuclear reactors; nonirradiated fuel elements (cartridges) for nuclear reactors; machines and apparatus for isotopic

separation: Parts of nuclear reactors" with the assumption that equipment is imported from the United States (WTO) [21]. Table 7 highlights the values on a per-country basis.

Country	Import Tariff Rate
United States	Country of origin of imports
Chile	6%
Indonesia	5%
Egypt	2%
Nigeria	5%
Argentina	14%
Thailand	0%
India	7.50%
Ukraine	0%
South Africa	0%

#### 2.3. O&M Cost Adjustment

Similar to what was done with OCC, high-level O&M had to be broken up into categories and levels of localization needed to be determined. O&M was categorized, following what was done in Reference [1], into three major categories. This included fuel, fixed, and variable non-fuel categories. Table 8 shows the reported cost ranges broken out into categories and reported for both large reactors and SMRs.

Large Reactors	Optimistic	Base	Conservative
Fuel (\$/MWh)	\$9.1	\$10.3	\$11.3
Fixed O&M (\$/MWh) @ 93% capacity factor <sup>a</sup>	\$15.5	\$21.5	\$25.1
Variable non-fuel O&M (\$/MWh)	\$1.9	\$2.8	\$3.4
Total O&M (\$/MWh)	\$26	\$35	\$40
Small Modular Reactors	Optimistic	Base	Conservative
Small Modular Reactors Nuclear fuel costs (\$/MWh)	Optimistic \$10.0	<b>Base</b> \$11.0	Conservative \$12.1
Small Modular Reactors Nuclear fuel costs (\$/MWh) Fixed O&M (\$/MWh) @ 93% capacity factor <sup>b</sup>	<b>Optimistic</b> \$10.0 \$14.5	<b>Base</b> \$11.0 \$16.6	<b>Conservative</b> \$12.1 \$26.5
Small Modular ReactorsNuclear fuel costs (\$/MWh)Fixed O&M (\$/MWh) @ 93% capacity factorbVariable non-fuel O&M (\$/MWh)	Optimistic \$10.0 \$14.5 \$2.2	Base \$11.0 \$16.6 \$2.6	Conservative \$12.1 \$26.5 \$2.8

 Table 8. GAIN report large LWR U.S. fixed (operations and non-fuel), variable (non-fuel), and nuclear fuel cost breakout.

It was assumed that fuel and variable non-fuel costs would be sourced entirely outside of the country and, in this case, would match U.S. costs for these categories. Fixed costs, which are primarily labor driven, were assumed to be fully localized and sourced domestically. Subsequently, the driving factor for O&M cost differences from country to country stems from differences in labor costs.

Table 9 shows the specific adjustment factors used for each country when adjusting O&M costs. Recall that costs sourced from the United States are not adjusted and therefore take on an adjustment factor of 1 in this case. Note that the lowest labor costs correspond to Nigeria, Indonesia, and India, while the highest costs (excluding the United States) are in Chile, Argentina, and South Africa.

Country	Fixed	Fuel	Variable Non-fuel
United States	1.00	1.00	1.00
Chile	0.19	1.00	1.00
Indonesia	0.03	1.00	1.00
Egypt	0.04	1.00	1.00

Table 9. O&M cost adjustment factors by category, normalized to United States costs.

<sup>a</sup> Fixed O&M for large reactors was converted to a \$/MWh value using a 93% capacity factor in this instance to allow it to be summed up with variable and fuel O&M. Prior to this adjustment, the fixed O&M values were \$126/kWe-yr (optimistic), \$175/kWe-yr (base), and \$203/kWe-yr (conservative), respectively.

<sup>b</sup> Fixed O&M for SMRs was converted to a \$/MWh value using a 93% capacity factor in this instance to allow it to be summed up with variable and fuel O&M. Prior to this adjustment, the fixed O&M values were \$118/kWe-yr (optimistic), \$136/kWeyr (base), and \$216/kWe-yr (conservative), respectively.

Country	Fixed	Fuel	Variable Non-fuel
Nigeria	0.03	1.00	1.00
Argentina	0.11	1.00	1.00
Thailand	0.10	1.00	1.00
India	0.04	1.00	1.00
Ukraine	0.10	1.00	1.00
South Africa	0.16	1.00	1.00

## 2.4. Cost Escalation Methodology

To compare projected costs against realized costs in other countries from previous years, an escalation method was developed to bring all costs in 2022 USD terms. The method adjusted costs by a country-specific GDP implicit price deflator (IPD) plus an additional amount. The additional amount, which varied by case, was defined by measuring the gap between the U.S. GDP-IPD and the weighted nuclear construction cost index from Reference [1] in the year the foreign build took place.

This gap represents the relative difference between nuclear cost levels to general cost levels (represented using GDP) across the United States. Assuming this gap is constant over time means that one expects nuclear costs to increase at the same rate as general costs, but the associated premium between the two will remain constant. Additionally, it assumes that a similar gap size between U.S. nuclear cost levels and general cost levels would be present for other countries. In practice, this is expected to vary with differences in regulation and the evolution of specific industries with a country, among other factors. However, a lack of data on nuclear costs in foreign countries warrants making such a simplification. Equation 6 below shows how this is applied.

$$Escalation_{x}^{t} = GDP\_IPD_{x}^{2022} + (NCI^{t} - GDP\_IPD_{us}^{t})$$

Equation 6. Escalation equation for cost adjustment to 2022 USD values.

Where,

- Escalation represents the escalation factor used to adjust prices from a given year to 2022 USD values
- X represents a given country
- t represents the base year from which the costs need to be adjusted to 2022 values
- GDP\_IPD represents the GDP implicit price deflator
- NCI represents the nuclear construction cost index developed in Reference [1] (note this is an index exclusive to the United States and leverages a weighted average approach to combining multiple nuclear-related indexes).

#### 2.5. Non-Cost Parameterization Methodology

Beyond costs, this report also provides guidance on other expected operational parameters. These additional parameters include construction time, reactor lifetime, capacity factor, load-following capability, and retirement costs. For each of the construction and operational parameter recommendations, a combination of U.S.-centric data and global data was leveraged. Where enough data was available, it was evaluated to show trends in distribution. First, second, and

third quartiles were highlighted as the basis for the expected range of values for a given parameter. It should be noted that while this method is an effective means of producing statistically sound ranges, in some instances, observed commercial values may be more tightly grouped than is reported by the proposed quartile method. For select categories, expected performance ranges are discussed, and recommendations are made based on existing research and operational experience.

Given the NZW focuses on leveraging nuclear energy for more than just electricity production, two non-electrical applications are outlined in this research. Recommendations for modeling values were provided. The two applications discussed are nuclear-powered hydrogen production and district heating. In both instances, performance of said systems is discussed including input requirements. In the case of nuclear-powered hydrogen production, a range of costs is presented from existing research.

#### 3. NUCLEAR COSTS ESTIMATED COSTS BY COUNTRY

#### 3.1.1. Country-Specific Nuclear Overnight Capital Costs

#### The results of the overnight cost adjustments are shown in

Figure 3. It shows that generally all NZW countries will likely incur similar nuclear costs with some variation. Countries such as Indonesia, Thailand and Ukraine which have the lowest relative equipment, material and labor costs show the lowest relative costs. The conservative costs for most countries appear to be close to or below the optimistic level for the United States. This highlights the impact of localization and lower rates of labor on nuclear construction costs.



# Figure 3. Country-specific nuclear overnight capital cost ranges for large reactors (top) and small modular reactors (bottom), shown as 2022 USD values.

Figure 3 values are shown in Table 10. In both, all-nuclear OCC outputs from the model were rounded to the nearest multiple of 250. These estimates are recommended to be used in the modeling activities for NZW.

Large Reactors			SMF	ર		
Country	Optimistic	Base	Conservative	Optimistic	Base	Conservative
United States	\$5,250	\$5,750	\$7,750	\$5,500	\$8,000	\$10,000
Chile	\$3,750	\$4,000	\$5,500	\$3,500	\$5,000	\$6,250
Indonesia	\$3,000	\$3,250	\$4,500	\$2,750	\$4,000	\$5,000
Egypt	\$3,250	\$3,500	\$4,750	\$2,750	\$4,250	\$5,250
Nigeria	\$3,500	\$3,750	\$5,000	\$3,000	\$4,500	\$5,750
Argentina	\$3,500	\$4,000	\$5,250	\$3,250	\$4,750	\$6,000
Thailand	\$3,000	\$3,250	\$4,500	\$2,750	\$4,000	\$5,000
India	\$3,250	\$3,500	\$4,750	\$2,750	\$4,000	\$5,000
Ukraine	\$3,000	\$3,250	\$4,250	\$2,750	\$4,000	\$4,750
South Africa	\$3,250	\$3,750	\$5,000	\$3,250	\$4,500	\$5,750

 Table 10. Country-specific nuclear overnight cost ranges for large reactors, shown as 2022 USD values.

#### 3.1.2. Comparison Against Observed Costs

The methodology was followed and applied to the case of China and the UAE, where observed costs from imported NPPs exist. In China, these two builds were the Sanmen and Taishan reactors. The Sanmen 1 and 2 builds were AP1000 pressurized-water reactors (PWRs) developed by Westinghouse Electric Company that came online one after the other during 2018. Combined, the two Sanmen reactors have a nameplate capacity of 2,314 MWe. The Taishan 1 and 2 builds were European pressurized reactors developed by Areva, now Framatome, (France) that came online in 2018 and 2019. Combined, the two Taishan reactors have a nameplate capacity of 3,320 MWe. In the UAE, the build used for comparison was the Barakah reactor. The plant consists of four units with a nameplate capacity of 5,380 MWe. The Barakah builds are APR-1400 PWR reactors developed by the Korea Electric Power Corporation, and units 1, 2, 3, and 4 entered commercial operation in the years 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2024, respectively.

Figure 4 shows the projected nuclear overnight cost ranges in China and the UAE. Each uses local labor and material multipliers as highlighted in Section 2.2. The realized costs are then compared against these ranges. The solid black and dashed blue lines show the actual costs incurred for reactors and escalated to 2022 USD. U.S. cost ranges were included for reference as well.



Figure 4. Estimated nuclear overnight cost comparisons for China (top) and the UAE (bottom).

Care must be taken when comparing the results from the methodology used here against observed costs. The methodology makes no assumption regarding the domestic capabilities within a country, which in the case of China are relatively mature. The methodology also assumes the BOAK costs are a good basis for projection in other countries compared to the original FOAK costs. Third, the costs incurred in China and UAE were escalated to 2022 USD assuming similar trends to U.S. indexes. This is an approximation that may not be entirely accurate. Last, no detailed breakdown of the costs for these projects has been made public. It remains uncertain how comprehensive these cost estimates are and if they include additional costs not considered in the analysis (e.g., design certification) or if they exclude items (e.g., indirect cost overruns).

Nevertheless, the figures do show that the methodology would result in costs that are roughly in line with observations in those two examples. In the case of China, the projection is higher than the experience at the two plants. This is even though both countries experienced cost overruns and delays [20] [22]. This is likely because the rate of localization in this country with an established nuclear industry is higher than the assumption in Table 2. This would result in lower

overall costs than the methodology currently assumes. In the case of the build in the UAE, the observed data falls in the more conservative bound of the model. The realized costs for Barakah (~\$4,000 in 2017 USD, when not adjusted for inflation) fall closer to the base estimate. Overall, the fact that new build constructions fall within the bounds of the methodology does provide some level of confidence in the ranges provided.

#### 3.2. Operating and Maintenance Costs

#### 3.2.1. Country-Specific Nuclear O&M Costs

The results of the O&M cost modeling are shown in Figure 5. The plot aggregates all the various O&M costs into one total for each country represented in USD/MWh. Note that values are rounded to the nearest multiple of 0.25. These results also show that NZW countries tend to cluster around a similar range with some skewing further up (Chile). For O&M costs, even optimistic U.S. costs are above the highest projected estimate of all NZW countries. Again, this showcases the significant impact of the cost of labor (the only cost factor that is country-specific here) on overall operating costs.



Figure 5. Country-specific nuclear O&M cost (including fixed, variable, and fuel costs) ranges for SMRs and large reactors. Shown as 2022 USD values.

Values from Figure 5 are also divided into fixed (show on a USD/kWe-yr basis) and variable (shown on a USD/MWh basis) portions in Table 11 and Table 12. Recall from Section 2.2 that fixed O&M consisted of labor-driven operation costs and subsequently vary from country to

country, but variable O&M consisted of fuel and non-fuel variable costs, which were considered to be constant irrespective of location, and therefore are shown as identical across all countries.

	•	
Country	Fixed O&M (USD/kWe-yr)	Variable O&M (USD/MWh)
United States	\$136 / \$188 / \$219	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
Chile	\$26 / \$35 / \$42	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
Indonesia	\$4 / \$7 / \$7	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
Egypt	\$4 / \$7 / \$9	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
Nigeria	\$4 / \$4 / \$7	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
Argentina	\$15 / \$22 / \$24	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
Thailand	\$13 / \$18 / \$22	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
India	\$4 / \$7 / \$9	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
Ukraine	\$13 / \$18 / \$22	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75
South Africa	\$22 / \$31 / \$35	\$11.00 / \$13.00 / \$14.75

# Table 11. Country-specific nuclear O&M cost ranges for large reactors with optimistic/base/conservative estimates.

# Table 12. Country-specific nuclear O&M cost ranges for small modular reactors with optimistic/base/conservative estimates.

Country	Fixed O&M (USD/kWe-yr)	Variable O&M (USD/MWh)
United States	\$127 / \$145 / \$232	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
Chile	\$24 / \$26 / \$44	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
Indonesia	\$4 / \$4 / \$7	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
Egypt	\$4 / \$4 / \$9	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
Nigeria	\$4 / \$4 / \$7	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
Argentina	\$15 / \$15 / \$26	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
Thailand	\$13 / \$13 / \$22	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
India	\$4 / \$7 / \$9	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
Ukraine	\$13 / \$13 / \$22	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75
South Africa	\$20 / \$24 / \$37	\$12.25 / \$13.50 / \$14.75

An additional factor to consider outside of standard operational costs is the potential for a spent fuel tax. In 1982, the United States enacted a spent fuel tax on nuclear utilities of 1.0 mil per kilowatt-hour, which translates into \$0.001/kWh or \$1.00/MWh as shown in Table ES-1 [23]. Given the low relative size of this value, a flat amount of \$1.00/MWh is assumed across the scenarios and the value is included in the O&M numbers provided within this report.

#### 3.2.2. Comparison Against Observed Operating Costs

To verify the cost adjustment approach for O&M, the methodology was compared against the case of reported O&M costs in China. Local country-specific labor adjustments were applied as

in Table 2, and Figure 6 shows the projected total nuclear O&M ranges in China. The solid black line shows the values for China O&M costs, taken from the MIT 2018 report [7].



Figure 6. Estimated China nuclear O&M costs compared to MIT 2018 reported.

The figure above shows that the cost adjustment method produces a range that captures reported actual nuclear O&M costs. In this instance, the projected range for O&M in China indicates that observed costs are close to the base costs from the methodology. This helps to validate this approach produces accurate estimates that can be used in modeling efforts.

However, it should be noted that only when the total O&M costs are aggregated to a single USD per MWh are they consistent with those found in the MIT report. When the data is disaggregated between fixed O&M and variable O&M, the breakout values deviate from those in the MIT report. This may be due to differences in operational costs between 2018 (when the MIT study was conducted) and 2022. Additionally, the categorization of what is considered fixed versus variable between the O&M data used and the MIT data could be different. This could produce values that aggregated to similar totals but differ when broken out. It is also possible that the methodology used in this report is overestimating the cost reductions in labor rates (producing a fixed cost value that is lower than MIT reports) but underestimating the change in variable costs, fuel and non-fuel, (producing a variable cost value that is higher than observed by MIT). This combination of overestimations and underestimation may have resulted in an error cancellation when aggregated to a single USD per MWh value. Further work is needed to identify the exact cause of the discrepancies in the disaggregated costs [24].

### 3.3. Resulting Breakdown of Foreign Versus Domestic Investment

Imported products are assumed to have a similar overall cost as the original U.S.-based estimates used in this study (neglecting shipping costs). However, some items (such as labor, commodities, and a few equipment) can be expected to be sourced locally. Based on the methodology outlined in previous sections, it is possible to untangle total expenses between "foreign" (assumed to be predominantly U.S.-based) and "domestic." While the aggregated total values are shown in Table 19, the values are broken down between subcomponents in Figure 7. The plot distinguishes between expense type (labor, material, equipment, or other) and if they are foreign-

born (dashed boxes) or domestic. Only the base costs are plotted here. Large reactors are not shown but exhibit a similar pattern to SMRs when shown graphically. For every kWe of U.S.-reactor deployment, the figure allows stakeholders to visualize an approximate breakdown of expenditures that are local versus U.S.-based. The figure showcases how higher domestic labor and material adjustment factors result in larger domestic costs relative to other countries.



# Figure 7. SMR base overnight capital cost breakout by category for NZW countries. In the key above the graph, "F" denotes foreign sourcing while "D" denotes domestic.

Table 13 shows the estimated percent of total costs for large and small reactors between foreign and domestic sources. This highlights how the split between domestic versus local expenses is country specific. This is primarily due to the differences in local market conditions (again, no assumption is made at this stage about local heavy industry capacity or skilled labor force). In general, for large reactors, it appears that around 30–45% of costs are expected to be born locally. A similar trend is seen for both large reactors and SMRs. The results should not be taken to be definitive quantifications—to do so would require detailed case-by-case cost projections. They do, however, provide a useful high-level estimation of the likely split between foreign and domestic investment for every U.S.-based reactor deployed in other countries.

	Large R	eactors	SI	MR
Country	Foreign Sourcing	Domestic Sourcing	Foreign Sourcing	Domestic Sourcing
Chile	56%	44%	56%	44%
Indonesia	68%	32%	70%	30%
Egypt	61%	39%	65%	35%
Nigeria	60%	40%	61%	39%
Argentina	62%	38%	62%	38%
Thailand	64%	36%	65%	35%
India	67%	33%	70%	30%

#### Table 13. Percent of total costs from foreign verses domestic investment.

	Large R	leactors	SMR		
Country	Foreign Sourcing	Domestic Sourcing	Foreign Sourcing	Domestic Sourcing	
Ukraine	67%	33%	68%	32%	
South Africa	59%	41%	58%	42%	

#### **3.4.** Retirement (Decommissioning Costs)

Retirement costs, also referred to as decommissioning costs, are incurred throughout the reactor's lifetime. In the United States, these costs are placed into a trust that is formed during the construction of the plant and collected over the lifetime of the plant [25]. At the end of the reactor lifetime when decommissioning is carried out, the funds are used. Alternatively, the trust can be sold to a third party that performs the decommissioning using the accrued funds. To better understand the range of required final costs that could be incurred, projected final retirement costs of U.S. reactors were collected from the Nuclear Regulatory Commission and a U.S. utility [26]. Costs were escalated to 2022 USD values using the overnight cost escalation methodology discussed in the previous sections and converted to a dollar per kWe basis to normalize them across reactor sizes.



United States Reactor Decomissioning Costs (2022 USD/kWe)

Figure 8. U.S. Decommissioning cost ranges.

Figure 8 shows the distribution of the projected reactor decommissioning costs normalized on a \$/kWe basis [27]. The distribution is right tailed with a small number of reactors showing substantial projected decommissioning costs. Again, it is important to note that these costs should not be conflated with OCC and are typically incurred as an annual fee accumulated throughout operations. These ranges as also leveraged in Reference [1] and annualized therein. The recommended value in that report of \$10/kWe-year is adopted and subsequently included in the O&M costs provided. Note that this value accounts for the impacts of compounded expecting returns from contributions made to the trust earlier on in the reactor's lifetime.

#### 3.5. Additional Adjustment Factors

#### 3.5.1. Multi-Unit Adjustment

Building multiple reactor plants at the same site can help reduce the costs associated with nuclear projects. Co-locating several plants allows for capital and operational efficiencies, such as shared warehousing facilities and rotating maintenance crews between units as needed. Based on a review of existing data from Reference [1], the cost adjustments factors from Table 14 are recommended for multi-unit sites, in addition to the expected cost reductions from learning.

OCC Cost Reduction	O&M Cost Reduction
1	1
0.9	0.67
0.8	0.67
0.7	0.67
0.7	0.67
	OCC Cost Reduction 1 0.9 0.8 0.7 0.7

It is also important to consider that the definition of a "unit" may vary across different designs. Some vendors, for example, offer reactors in four- or six-pack configurations. In these cases, cost reductions might differ between a single pack and the first and subsequent packs. For simplicity in analysis, it is recommended to apply the cost reductions by treating each multi-unit pack as a single unit. Similar factors are recommended for both large reactors and SMRs.

#### 3.5.2. FOAK Multipliers

Adjustment factors for FOAK builds were also based on recommendations from Reference [6], and the learning rate recommendations were based on Reference [1]. Recall that estimates for OCC numbers are not considered to be FOAK demonstrations nor NOAK. To adjust numbers downward for NOAK builds or upward for FOAK builds, the adjustment factors shown in Table 15 should be used. For countries without existing nuclear programs, the FOAK adjustment factors would not include the cost for starting a nuclear program in that country. In these instances, models would only represent FOAK OCCs, and additional costs would need to be accounted for to represent the formation of a national nuclear program to accompany the adoption of the technology. Only a single value is recommended from FOAK premium. This is because typically conservative FOAK adjustment factors are likely correlated with optimistic

BOAK costs and vice versa. For simplicity, and to provide a more consistent analysis, a single reference premium multiplier is recommended for any of the three scenarios.

Table 15. FOAK capitals cost adjustment factor ranges and learn rate capital cost reduction
ranges.

Category	Small Modular Reactors	Large Reactors		
FOAK premium	1.5	1.5		
Learning rate [%]	9.5%	8.0%		

For additional context, the recommended learning rates in Table 15 were obtained from Reference [1], which surveyed a variety of bottom-up estimates. The learning rate in this instance is defined as a percentage reduction in cost when a doubling in number of deployments is achieved. For example, a learning rate of 5% implies that the cost of the second plant will be 95% that of the FOAK, and the fourth plant will be 90.25% (95% of 95%) and so on. The method can be employed to calculate the learning rate associated with any number of reactors as it smooths values between doublings. Mathematically, this can be expressed as shown in Equation 7.

$$Cost_n = FOAK(1 - LR)^{log_2 n}$$

Equation 7. Learning rate adjustment equation.

Where,

- Cost represents the learning rate adjusted cost of the nth reactor
- n represents the number of reactor deployments
- FOAK represents the OCC costs of the FOAK deployment
- LR represents the desired learning rate from Table 15.

In the case of calculating FOAK build costs, the value shown in Table 15 is used as a direct multiplier, meaning the OCC cost should just be multiplied by the FOAK premium to get an expected FOAK cost. Again, a mathematical representation is shown in Equation 8.

#### $FOAK = BOAK \times FP$

Equation 8. FOAK cost adjustment equation.

Where,

- FOAK represents FOAK OCC
- BOAK represents a given OCC value from Table 10
- FP represents FOAK premiums Table 15.

# 4. REFERENCE DATA ON NUCLEAR CONSTUCTION AND OPERATION

While considering construction and operational parameters within this section, recall that construction time and capacity factor methodologies leverage the use of quartiles from observed data to produce a suggested range of values for modeling. This approach was also leveraged for estimating decommissioning cost ranges This method is an effective means of producing

statistically sound ranges, but in some instances, observed commercial values may be more tightly grouped. This differentiation likely stems from the use of globally data overtime where differences in parameters may produce minor skewing.

#### 4.1. Construction Time

Time to complete a nuclear reactor can vary based on several factors. This includes regulatory approval timelines, issues with material sourcing, project management issues, etc. It is also expected that SMRs and large reactors have distinctly different construction times due to size and construction methods. For this reason, recommendations are separated again into large reactor and SMR categories. Values for both categories also come from Reference [1]. It is also possible for expected times to change depending on technology selection, workforce availability, regulatory stringency, and political support. Note that this time excludes the time needed to obtain regulatory approval for siting the reactor at a given location. Table 16 summarizes the recommended ranges.

Construction Timeline (Months)	Large Reactors	Small Modular Reactors
Optimistic	60	43
Base	82	55
Conservative	125	71

Table 16: Construction time large and small modular reactors.

#### 4.2. Capacity Factor

A capacity factor is an important aspect of nuclear modeling that can have a substantial impact on total energy production. Because NPPs can operate for a larger percent of the year, more value can be drawn from the asset. Capacity factors vary around the globe with the highest coming from U.S. reactors. Because SMRs are not currently deployed, a single capacity factor based off large reactor data is recommended for both. Power Reactor Information System (PRIS) data was leveraged again to understand the distribution of capacity factors across the globe [28].



Figure 9. Global nuclear capacity factor distribution, site-specific reporting.

Figure 9 shows that nuclear capacity factors are grouped around 80–100% with a long left tail. Reactors with a 0% capacity factor were removed from the dataset (as they were assumed to be non-operational), but some reactors in the dataset still showed extremely low-capacity factors. It is likely that some of the low-capacity data points are from test reactors or reactors with low utilization due to abnormal operational circumstances. In commercial applications, operators are incentivized to keep capacity as high as possible to maximize profitability. Despite the presence of outliers in the dataset, Table 17 indicates that the first and third quartiles are 80% and 95% with a global median capacity factor of 90%. A lower end capacity factor of 80% is considered very unlikely for normal commercial operation (the data may be skewed by noncommercial or nontraditional operations). On the other hand, the upper bound of 95% may be considered overoptimistic, but the range obtained is essentially a function of the methodology. In the United States, the average capacity factor for commercial reactors is 93% and could be used for modeling purposes if the hope is to replicate the U.S. experience with maximizing capacity factors. Note that PRIS data reports site-specific data and not reactor-specific data (i.e., reactor site with four reactors counts as a single data point instead of four).

Table 17.	Global nuclear	capacity	factor	statistics,	site-s	pecific re	porting.
				,			

Global Nuclear Capacity Factors					
Low – 1 <sup>st</sup> Quartile	Medium – 2 <sup>nd</sup> Quartile	High – 3 <sup>rd</sup> Quartile			
80%	90%	95%			

#### 4.3. Reactor Lifetime

The average age of U.S. reactors is approaching 40 years, and there are no technical limits to these units operating beyond that point. To date, 20 reactors in the United States are planning or intending to operate up to 80 years [29]. Though nuclear plants are originally intended to operate safely for 40 years, experts agree that older reactors could last another 50 years [21]. The lifetime of a reactor is assumed to be at least 60 years according to Dominion Energy research [27]. This is taken to correspond to the "conservative" case. The base case recommendation is 80 years, and the optimistic is taken to be 100 years [27].

### 4.4. Nuclear Plant Load-Following Capability

NPPs were designed for load-following operation, and the nuclear industry in various countries accrued decades of experience successfully ramping up/down operations of their nuclear fleet. Below is a summary of European utilities' requirements for NPP maneuvering capabilities, where "conservative" refers to minimum requirements and "optimistic" refers to capability currently achieved by some NPP concepts [30].

	Min	Max
Load-following operation available during cycle length	90%	100%
Ramp rate of load-following operation	3%Pr/min	5%Pr/min
Daily maneuverability	2 daily cycles/day 5 cycles per week 200 cycles per year	No limit
Lower range of power operation	50%Pr	20%Pr
Primary frequency control (available at all times)	+/- 2%Pr	+/- 5%Pr
Secondary frequency control	(optional)	+/- 10%Pr with ramps of 5%Pr/min

#### Table 18. Maneuverability and other performance metrics for nuclear.

Additional features include the possibility of NPPs participating in emergency load variation with ramp rate of 20% Pr/min down to minimum load of the unit and grid restoration with a ramp-up of 10% Pr/min.<sup>c</sup>

It should be noted that many recent designs (including the AP1000) are certified to comply with these requirements. Similar utility requirements were defined in the United States [31].

Added costs to load-following operation are not included here since those are expected to be mostly accounted for by the reduced reactor utilization while still incurring fixed operating costs. Reduced fuel utilization and maintenance costs due to load-following operations can be estimated via variable O&M costs [32].

These maneuvering capabilities are based on large, advanced light-water reactors technologies while some advanced SMRs may provide improved maneuvering performance. For instance, the TerraPower Natrium, Westinghouse LFR, and Moltex concepts are designed to couple with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> %Pr/Min is defined as the measure of change per minute in percent of power rated.

thermal energy storage (several hours of storage are being considered), which enables ramping up/down the plant electrical output without varying nuclear plant output.

#### 5. NON-GRID NUCLEAR ENERGY APPLICATIONS

The previous sections of this report have mainly focused on the costs associated with the production of electricity for the grid. However, when electricity and/or heat produced by an NPP is utilized by a non-grid application, there are additional factors that should be considered. First, non-grid applications may require modifications to the typical NPP design, particularly applications that utilize heat. This section provides a set of recommendations for modeling these nuclear applications.

#### 5.1. Cost Assumptions for Heat-only Applications

In cases where only heat is utilized and no electricity is generated, there will be significant changes to the plant design, which impact both the direct and indirect costs. Adjustments to capital costs must be made to account for the removal of equipment such as turbomachinery. To make these adjustments, heat-only multipliers from Reference [1] were used to alter OCC costs down for thermal-only applications. Additionally, to convert the costs to USD/kWth, the cost in USD/kWe should be multiplied by the reactor thermal efficiency. Here, two possibilities are shown: low-temperature reactors with a thermal efficiency of 33% and high-temperature reactors with a thermal efficiency of 40%. The impacts of these adjustments are highlighted in



Large Reactor - Low Temperature - Thermal Only



Optimistic Base Conservative \$3,000 OCC (2022 USD/kWth) \$2,500 \$2,000 \$1,500 \$1,000 \$500 \$0 United Chile Indonesia Egypt Nigeria Argentina Thailand India Ukraine South States Africa

Figure 10 and Table 19. In both, values were rounded to the nearest multiple of 100.



Figure 10 Country-specific thermal-only nuclear overnight cost ranges (\$/kWth) for lowtemperature and high-temperature large reactors, shown as 2022 USD values.



Figure 11 Country-specific thermal-only nuclear overnight cost ranges (\$/kWth) for lowtemperature (top) and high-temperature small modular reactors (bottom), shown as 2022 USD values.

Table 19. Country-specific thermal-only nuclear overnight cost ranges, shown as 2022 USD values. The upper values correspond with a low-temperature reactor (thermal efficiency = 33%) and the lower values correspond with a high-temperature reactor (thermal efficiency = 40%)

	L	arge React.	ors	Smal	l Modular F	Reactors
Country	Optimistic	Base	Conservative	Optimistic	Base	Conservative
United	\$1,400	\$1,500	\$2,100	\$1,400	\$2,100	\$2,600
States	\$1,700	\$1,800	\$2,500	\$1,700	\$2,500	\$3,200
Chile	\$1,000	\$1,100	\$1,400	\$900	\$1,300	\$1,700
	\$1,200	\$1,300	\$1,700	\$1,100	\$1,600	\$2,000

Large Reactors			Smal	l Modular R	eactors	
Country	Optimistic	Base	Conservative	Optimistic	Base	Conservative
Indonesia	\$800	\$900	\$1,200	\$700	\$1,100	\$1,300
	\$1,000	\$1,100	\$1,400	\$900	\$1,300	\$1,600
Egypt	\$800	\$900	\$1,200	\$700	\$1,100	\$1,300
	\$1,000	\$1,100	\$1,500	\$900	\$1,300	\$1,600
Nigeria	\$900	\$1,000	\$1,300	\$800	\$1,200	\$1,500
	\$1,100	\$1,200	\$1,600	\$1,000	\$1,400	\$1,800
Argentina	\$900	\$1,000	\$1,400	\$800	\$1,200	\$1,600
	\$1,100	\$1,200	\$1,700	\$1,000	\$1,500	\$1,900
Thailand	\$800	\$900	\$1,200	\$700	\$1,100	\$1,300
	\$1,000	\$1,100	\$1,400	\$900	\$1,300	\$1,600
India	\$800	\$900	\$1,200	\$700	\$1,100	\$1,300
	\$1,000	\$1,100	\$1,500	\$900	\$1,300	\$1,600
Ukraine	\$700	\$800	\$1,200	\$700	\$1,000	\$1,200
	\$900	\$1,000	\$1,400	\$800	\$1,200	\$1,500
South Africa	\$900	\$1,000	\$1,300	\$800	\$1,200	\$1,500
	\$1,100	\$1,200	\$1,600	\$1,000	\$1,500	\$1,800

In the case of heat-only applications, it is expected O&M costs will decrease to some extent. Following the recommendation of Reference [1], the projected O&M costs from Section 3.2.1 were adjusted to represent thermal-only applications. Figure 12 represents the values graphically while Table 20 and Table 21 provide country-specific values separated into fixed and variable O&M groupings. Note that in the case of O&M, the expected decrease in costs for thermal-only applications is less than the drop observed for thermal-only OCC. This is unsurprising as it is expected that much of the plant will operate similarly from a staffing and maintenance standpoint. Subsequently, the reductions are lesser in this case.



Figure 12. Country-specific thermal-only nuclear operating cost ranges for low-temperature large reactors (top) and high-temperature large reactors (bottom), shown as 2022 USD values.



Figure 13. Country-specific thermal-only nuclear operating cost ranges for low-temperature SMRs (top) and high-temperature SMRs (bottom), shown as 2022 USD values.

Table 20. Country-specific thermal-only nuclear O&M cost ranges for low- and high-temperature large reactors with optimistic/base/conservative estimates. The upper values correspond with a low-temperature reactor and the lower values correspond with a high-temperature reactor

Country	Fixed O&M (USD/kWth-yr) Low-Temperature	Fixed O&M (USD/kWth-yr) High-Temperature	Variable O&M (USD/MWh) Low-Temperature	Variable O&M (USD/MWh) High-Temperature
United States	\$43 / \$60 / \$70	\$52 / \$73 / \$85	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
Chile	\$8/\$11/\$13	\$10 / \$14 / \$16	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
Indonesia	\$1 / \$2 / \$2	\$2 / \$3 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6

	Fixed O&M (USD/kWth-yr)	Fixed O&M (USD/kWth-yr)	Variable O&M (USD/MWh)	Variable O&M (USD/MWh)
Country	Low-Temperature	High-Temperature	Low-Temperature	High-Temperature
Egypt	\$1 / \$2 / \$3	\$2 / \$3 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
Nigeria	\$1/\$1/\$2	\$2 / \$2 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
Argentina	\$5 / \$7 / \$8	\$6 / \$8 / \$9	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
Thailand	\$4 / \$6 / \$7	\$5 / \$7 / \$8	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
India	\$1 / \$2 / \$3	\$2 / \$3 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
Ukraine	\$4 / \$6 / \$7	\$5 / \$7 / \$8	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6
South Africa	\$7 / \$10 / \$11	\$8 / \$12 / \$14	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$4 / \$5 / \$6

Table 21. Country-specific thermal-only nuclear O&M cost ranges for low- and high-temperature small modular reactors with optimistic/base/conservative estimates. The upper values correspond with a low-temperature reactor (thermal efficiency = 33%) and the lower values correspond with a high-temperature reactor (thermal efficiency = 40%)

Country	Fixed O&M (USD/kWth-yr) Low-Temperature	Fixed O&M (USD/kWth-yr) High-Temperature	Variable O&M (USD/MWh) Low-Temperature	Variable O&M (USD/MWh) High-Temperature
United States	\$40 / \$46 / \$74	\$49 / \$56 / \$90	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
Chile	\$8 / \$8 / \$14	\$9 / \$10 / \$17	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
Indonesia	\$1/\$1/\$2	\$2 / \$2 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
Egypt	\$1/\$1/\$3	\$2 / \$2 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
Nigeria	\$1/\$1/\$2	\$2 / \$2 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
Argentina	\$5 / \$5 / \$8	\$6 / \$6 / \$10	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
Thailand	\$4 / \$4 / \$7	\$5 / \$5 / \$8	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
India	\$1 / \$2 / \$3	\$2 / \$3 / \$3	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
Ukraine	\$4 / \$4 / \$7	\$5 / \$5 / \$8	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6
South Africa	\$6 / \$8 / \$12	\$8 / \$9 / \$14	\$4 / \$4 / \$5	\$5 / \$5 / \$6

#### 5.2. Recommendations for Cogeneration

Other non-grid applications require the cogeneration of heat and electricity, which may require modifications to the plant design, thus impacting cost. At a minimum, additional components, such as piping and heat exchangers, will likely be required for cogeneration. It is also likely that these modifications introduce other non-equipment costs, such as engineering costs and permitting costs. The modifications required for non-electric applications and the costs associated with these modifications will be site-specific and depend on the specific requirements of the non-grid application. When units are used for cogeneration, the cost estimates provided in Section 3 should be used.

Another factor that must be considered for cogeneration scenarios is the impact that heat removal has on electricity generation. To supply heat to some non-grid processes, steam can be extracted from the reactor BOP (also referred to as the power conversion system). There are many different locations where steam can be extracted, such as before the high- or low-pressure turbines as well as from within the turbines, similar to steam extraction for feedwater heating. The location of steam extraction will dictate the temperature and pressure of the steam as well as the impact that extraction has on electricity generation. When steam is removed from the BOP, it is no longer available for electricity generation, which results in a decrease in electricity generation. Furthermore, if the steam flowrate through a turbine is significantly altered, the turbine will be operating at off-design conditions, which can further reduce electricity generation due to a reduction in isentropic efficiency. The reduction in electricity generation caused by heat removal can have a significant impact on the economics of the system and is further explored in this section.

Previous research investigated the feasibility of coupling nuclear power with negative emissions technologies and included an in-depth investigation of the relationship between steam extraction and electricity production [33]. To do so, steam cycle models were used to simulate extraction from the BOP. This work included the analysis of three Rankine-cycle-based reactor types: PWR, sodium-cooled fast reactor (SFR), and high-temperature gas-cooled reactor (HTGR). Nominal conditions for each reactor type are provided in Table 22. For each reactor type, several extraction locations were selected and analyzed. For each extraction location, the extraction flow rate was increased from zero up until the simulation could no longer converge. In all cases, the extracted flow was routed to the condenser to stabilize operation. It should be noted that this modeling approach did not account for the impact of operating the turbines at off-design conditions and therefore may underestimate the reduction of electricity generation, particularly at higher extraction flow rates. Results from this analysis are provided in Figure 14 and Table 23. For each reactor type, results for the two extraction locations, main steam extraction and a lower temperature/pressure steam extraction—each chosen to be around 150°C, are provided. The extraction mass flow rate is normalized to the nominal main steam mass flow rate, and the electricity generation is normalized to the nominal (no extraction) value. A linear line was fit to each curve shown in Figure 14 and is provided in Table 23. In these equations, Egen represents the amount of electricity generated (MW<sub>e</sub>),  $\dot{m}_{ext}$  represents the extraction mass flow rate (kg/s), and  $\dot{m}_{MS}$  represents the nominal main steam mass flow rate (kg/s) as provided in Table 22.

	PWR	SFR	HTGR
Reference Design	AP-1000 [34]	AFR-100 [35, 36]	Xe-100 [37, 38]
Reactor Thermal Power	3,415 MW <sub>th</sub>	250 MW <sub>th</sub>	203 MWth
Nominal Net Electricity Generation	1,100 MWe	100 MWe	81 MWe
Nominal Net Thermal Efficiency	32%	41%	40%
Nominal Main Steam Mass Flow Rate	1,880 kg/s	111 kg/s	78 kg/s

	Table 22.	Reactor	nominal	parameters
--	-----------	---------	---------	------------



Figure 14. Relationship between steam extraction for non-grid applications and the resulting decrease in electricity generation [33].

Reactor Type	Temperature [°C]	Pressure [bar]	Enthalpy [kJ/kg]	Extraction Curve Fit
PWR	273	56.7	2,792	$E_{gen} = 1 - 1.2796 \ (\dot{m}_{ext}/\dot{m}_{MS})$
PWR	167	4.4	2,788	$E_{gen} = 1 - 0.8188 \ (\dot{m}_{ext}/\dot{m}_{MS})$
SFR	500	160	3,297	$E_{gen} = 1 - 1.2328 \ (\dot{m}_{ext}/\dot{m}_{MS})$
SFR	150	4.7	2,596	$E_{gen} = 1 - 0.5054 \; (\dot{m}_{ext} / \dot{m}_{MS})$
HTGR	565	164	3,478	$E_{gen} = 1 - 1.1745 \ (\dot{m}_{ext}/\dot{m}_{MS})$
HTGR	165	7.0	2,754	$E_{gen} = 1 - 0.5074 \ (\dot{m}_{ext}/\dot{m}_{MS})$

Table 23. Extraction conditions and curve fits for the results in Figure 14.

As expected, results of this analysis showed that increasing the extraction mass flow rate causes a larger reduction in electricity generation. Additionally, the extraction of higher temperature/pressure steam will result in a larger reduction in electricity generation than extraction from lower pressure streams. While high levels of extraction are shown here, it should be noted that for existing cogeneration nuclear reactors, the amount of heat removal is minor (~5%) [39].

The relationships provided in Figure 14 and Table 23 can be applied to many cogeneration scenarios. To do so, one must relate the amount of steam extracted to the amount of heat provided to the heat application, which is likely not the same as the amount of heat removed from the NPP. For a given rate of extraction, the amount of heat removed from the NPP is known; however, the amount of heat that is provided to the heat application is dependent on the temperature requirements of the given application and the integration design. Here, it is assumed that the heat from the extracted steam is transferred to the heat application working fluid via a

process heat exchanger, and only one extraction stream supplies this heat. In this case, the amount of heat supplied to the heat application can be calculated as the extraction mass flow rate multiplied by the change in enthalpy on the NPP side of the heat exchanger or as the mass flow rate on the heat application side of the heat exchanger multiplied by the change in enthalpy on the heat exchanger multiplied by the change in enthalpy on the heat exchanger, as shown in Equation 9.

#### $Q = \dot{m}_{ext} \Delta h_{ext} = \dot{m}_{app} \Delta h_{app}$

Equation 9. Conservation of energy equation for the process heat exchanger.

Where,

- Q [kW] is the amount of heat supplied to the heat application
- $\dot{m}_{ext}$  and  $\dot{m}_{app}$  [kg/s] are the mass flow rates on the NPP side and heat application side of the heat exchanger, respectively
- $\Delta h_{ext}$  and  $\Delta h_{app}$  [kJ/kg] are the changes in enthalpy across the NPP side and heat application side of the heat exchanger, respectively.

The conditions of the inlet and outlet streams on the heat application side of the heat exchanger are dependent on the system design and energy requirements and will therefore be specific to each heat application. On the NPP side of the heat exchanger, the conditions of the inlet stream are determined by the extraction location, while the conditions of the outlet stream can vary based on the heat exchanger design. Commonly, some pressure drop is assumed across the heat exchanger, and the temperature of the outlet stream on the NPP side is assumed to be some amount higher than the temperature of the outlet stream on the heat application side, commonly 10°C. This approach for quantifying the relationship between steam extraction, electricity generation, and heat provided to the heat application is demonstrated in Section 5.4 for district heating.

### 5.3. Clean Hydrogen Production

One non-grid application for nuclear power that has gained global interest is clean hydrogen production. High-temperature steam electrolysis (HTSE) is one method of hydrogen production that can be coupled with nuclear power to produce emissions-free hydrogen. HTSE systems operate around 700–800°C, which is a higher temperature than most NPP designs can supply [40]. However, this high-temperature heat can be effectively supplied by recouperation and electric topping heaters. Rather, low-temperature heat from an NPP can be used for feedwater vaporization, which only requires temperatures around 100–200°C [40]. In addition to heat, the HTSE systems require electricity (both ac and dc), which can also be supplied by the NPP along with an ac-dc rectifier.

Previous analysis developed a plant design and cost estimation for an HTSE system integrated with an NPP [40], the results of which will be presented here. Some updates and adjustments have been made to the original cost estimates including:

- Adjusted plant capacity to  $10 \text{ MW}_{dc}$ ,  $20 \text{ MW}_{dc}$ , 100 MW-dc, and  $500 \text{ MW}_{dc}$  sizes
- Changed HTSE plant type to FOAK (does not include cost reductions from learning effects)

- Adjusted the 10 and 20 MW<sub>dc</sub> case stack costs to the value computed for 100 MW/yr manufacturing capacity [41]: \$145/kW plus 10% contingency and 30% markup (\$207/kW-dc total)
- Adjusted the 100 and 500  $MW_{dc}$  case stack costs to the value computed for 1,000 MW/yr manufacturing capacity [41]: \$78/kW plus 10% contingency and 30% markup (\$112/kW-dc total)
- Updated rectifier cost to \$220/kW [42]
- Adjusted "engineering and design" and "process contingency" indirect cost multipliers to represent the FOAK plant type rather than NOAK plant type.

The resulting hydrogen production rate and cost estimates are presented in Table 24 for four different HTSE system sizes (presented in terms of the amount of dc electricity the stack consumes). The cost estimates for varying system sizes show that while the energy requirements for each system are the same, the systems benefit from economies of scale in both OCC and O&M categories (most notable in OCC where a reduction in USD/kW<sub>DC</sub> of more than 50% is observed).

HTSE Plant Size [MWe]	$10 \text{ MW}_{dc}$	$20 \text{ MW}_{dc}$	100 MW <sub>dc</sub>	500 $MW_{dc}$
Plant Design Capacity [tonnes H <sub>2</sub> /day]	7.0	14.0	70.2	351
Cell Degradation Factor	96.7%	96.7%	96.7%	96.7%
OCC [USD/kW <sub>dc</sub> ]	\$2,119	\$1,783	\$1,230	\$1,030
Fixed O&M [USD/kWdc/yr]	\$160	\$117	\$64	\$46
Variable O&M [USD/MWdc-h]	\$9.0	\$8.7	\$5.0	\$4.8

#### Table 24. Hydrogen production capacity and cost estimates from [40].

The plant design capacity is the theoretical production rate if the plant were to operate at a 100% capacity factor, not accounting for stack degradation; however, the actual plant output will be lower. Over time, the stack will degrade, resulting in a decrease in hydrogen production. Here, it is assumed that stack degradation causes the actual plant output to decrease to 96.7% of the design capacity when averaged over the course of the year. Therefore, to calculate the actual plant output, the plant design capacity should be multiplied by the cell degradation factor and the operational capacity factor. For example, to calculate the actual plant output for the 10 MW<sub>dc</sub> system assuming a 90% capacity factor, the plant design capacity factor (90%), resulting in an actual average plant output of 6.1 tonnes/day.

The OCC includes the stack cost, BOP costs equipment costs, installation costs, and indirect costs, including site preparation, engineering and design, contingency, and land. The fixed O&M costs include labor, general and administrative costs, property tax and insurance, as well as maintenance and repair costs. The variable O&M costs include the cost of process and cooling water, annual stack replacement, and unplanned equipment replacement costs. It should be noted that the variable O&M does not include the cost of heat or electricity. Instead, these costs can be determined based on the energy requirements for the HTSE system. The thermal and electric energy requirements (corresponding to the plant design capacity) are provided in Table 25, as well as the total reactor thermal power needed to provide this energy. This value is calculated by dividing the electrical consumption requirement by the NPP thermal efficiency and adding this to the thermal consumption requirement. This approximation assumes that main steam is used to supply heat to the HTSE system, which is provided at 155°C.

 Table 25. Energy requirements for HTSE system coupled with NPPs of varying thermal efficiencies.

	PWR (33% efficiency)	HTGR (40% efficiency)
Electrical Energy Consumption [kWac-h/kgH2]	36.8	36.8
Thermal Energy Consumption [kWth-h/kgH2]	6.4	6.4
Total Reactor Thermal Power Required [kWth-h/kgH2]	118	98

The amount of electricity that is no longer available to sell to the grid due to the operation of the HTSE system can be determined by multiplying the total reactor thermal power required for operating the system by the NPP thermal efficiency. Thus, for every kilogram of hydrogen produced, the amount of electricity available to sell to the grid decreases by 38.9 kW<sub>e</sub>-h for the PWR and 39.4 kW<sub>e</sub>-h for the HTGR. This includes both the electricity that is consumed by the HTSE system and the electricity that is no longer generated due to the heat removal from the BOP.

Here it was assumed that main steam is used to provide heat to the HTSE system although the steam provided to the HTSE system is at 155°C, which could be provided by a lower temperature extraction stream. However, since the energy requirements for the HTSE system are dominated by electricity consumption rather than thermal consumption, the impact that the extraction location will have on electricity generation is minimal. Thus, no alternative extraction locations are considered here.

### 5.4. Nuclear Power Plant Performance for District Heating

Another way in which nuclear power can support net-zero goals is through district heating, which provides decarbonized heat to nearby users. The overall cost of a district heating system includes the cost of heat production, transport, and distribution [39]. The overall system cost is dominated by the capital cost, which is largely dependent on the cost of the distribution pipeline, which can be as high as 10 million Euros per kilometer [39]. Therefore, the separation distance

between the NPP and end user has a large influence on the overall system. A recent study that reviewed and characterized past and current nuclear district heating systems reported separation distances as low as 2 km and as high as 64 km [43]. Due to the site-specific nature of the distribution pipeline cost, the capital costs of a district heating project should be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.

In addition to the capital costs of a nuclear district heating system, it is also important to consider the impact that supplying heat to the district heating system will have on electricity generation. Heat removed from the BOP for district heating is no longer available for electricity generation, thus reducing the amount of electricity that can be produced. The relationship between steam extraction and electricity generation, provided in Table 23, can be used to approximate the relationship between the amount of heat supplied to a district heating system and the resulting decrease in electricity generation.

Typically, a heat exchanger is used to transfer heat from the extracted steam to the district heating working fluid [43]. By assuming the thermodynamic conditions of the heat exchanger inlet and outlet streams, the amount of heat provided to the district heating system can be related to the steam extraction mass flow rate as well as electricity production rate. To do so, conditions for the district heating supply and return streams must be selected. Most existing nuclear district heating systems utilize hot water (rather than steam) as the working fluid [44]. The temperature of the hot water supplied to the district heating system is typically 80–130°C, while the return temperature is typically 45–70°C [44]. Here, the hot water supply and return temperatures are assumed to be 130°C and 70°C, respectively. The lower temperature extraction options provided in Figure 14 are a sufficiently high temperature to provide heat at the desired temperature of 130°C; the thermodynamic conditions of these streams are provided in Table 23. To determine the enthalpy of the outlet stream on the NPP side of the condenser, it is assumed that there is no pressure drop, and the temperature (80°C) is 10°C higher than the district heating hot water return temperature (70 $^{\circ}$ C). With these assumptions, the curve fits the data provided in Table 23 and the relationship shown in Equation 9; the amount of heat supplied to the district heating system can be related to the amount of electricity generated by the NPP, as shown in Figure 15. The amount of heat supplied to the district heating system is expressed as the percentage of total reactor thermal power, and the amount of electricity generated is normalized to the nominal (no extraction) value. Additionally, curve fits are provided in Table 26;  $Q_{DH}$  represents the amount of heat provided to the district heating system (MW]), while  $Q_{RX}$  represents the total reactor thermal power (MW), as provided in Table 22.



Table 26. Curve fits relating heat supply to a district heating system to NPP electricity generation.

Reactor Type	Extraction Steam Temperature	Extracted Steam Enthalpy	Extraction Curve Fit
PWR	167°C	2788 kJ/kg	$E_{gen} = 1 - 0.6064 (Q_{DH}/Q_{RX})$
SFR	150°C	2596 kJ/kg	$E_{gen} = 1 - 0.5044 (Q_{DH}/Q_{RX})$
HTGR	165°C	2754 kJ/kg	$E_{gen} = 1 - 0.5459 (Q_{DH}/Q_{RX})$

Note that this calculation quantifies the amount of heat provided to the district heating system at the location of the nuclear plant, not the amount of heat that is available at the end user's location. There is no attempt to quantify thermal losses along the transmission line since this will be affected by many site-specific factors. Additionally, it should be noted that although these results are provided for a large range of values, it is common for the amount of heat removal during a cogeneration application to be minor ( $\sim$ 5%) [39].

### 6. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The modeling recommendations provided in this report are not without weaknesses and can be improved as part of future work. Several key aspects to consider further are highlighted below:

- 1. More representative costs for nuclear overnight costs are needed. An alternative approach could be to focus on observed costs throughout the world and provide a baseline for the NZW participating countries.
- 2. Additional work is needed to make the breakdown more consistent with each country's industrial base by analyzing the potential of each country to develop suppliers in the nuclear industry value chain and how that would affect the costs of the local components

- 3. A more granular and robust methodology is needed to account for local cost multipliers. In an ideal case, all labor-based expenses would be broken into hours spent, type of laborer, and rates. These would then be adjusted on a country-by-country basis, accounting for changes in rates and productivity. Furthermore, a more detailed methodology may be able to account for non-local labor factions that should be held constant across all nations.
- 4. Additional work is also needed to improve the methodology for O&M cost estimation across countries. Notably, the discrepancy between variable and fixed costs should be investigated further to improve accuracy when costs are disaggregated from a total O&M cost number to fixed and variable costs.
- 5. The impact of cost reductions at multi-unit sites (both on OCC and O&M) could be investigated in further details if models can capture these nuances.
- 6. The costs associated with non-grid applications could be further investigated—in particular, the costs associated with plant modification for cogeneration scenarios. Additionally, the HTSE system costs provided assume construction in the United States and should be adjusted for construction in other NZW participating countries.

In addition to improvements of the methodology highlighted above, the study could be expanded to account for additional considerations. For instance, microreactors are expected to be of interest to remote communities. Microreactor costs are expected to vary substantially from those observed for the larger reactors emphasized in this study. In addition to hydrogen, synthetic fuels (ammonia- or carbon-based) could be considered as part of the model. Similarly, thermal energy storage (and other forms of storage) could be considered when accounting for maneuverability of reactors and load-following. Coupling a nuclear reactor to a direct air capture system results in net-negative emissions and therefore could be of particular interest when exploring aggressive net-zero targets. Last, siting constraints are also important considerations for the large scale deployment of nuclear technology.

## References

- A. Abou-Jaoude, C. Lohse, L. Larsen, N. Guaita, I. Trivedi, F. Joseck, E. Hoffman, N. Stauff, K. Shirvan and A. Stein, "Meta-Analysis of Advanced Nuclear Reactor Cost Estimations," Idaho Natinal Labroatory, Idaho Falls, 2024.
- [2] D. B., F. Ganda, K. Williams, E. Hoffman and J. K. Hansen, "Advanced Fuel Cycle Cost Basis–2017 Edition," INL, Idaho Falls, 2017.
- [3] A. Stein, J. Messinger, S. Wang, J. Lloyd, J. McBride and R. Franovich, "Advancing Nuclear Energy: Evaluating Deployment, Investment, and Impact in America's Clean Energy Future," Breakthrough Institute, 2022.
- [4] K. Gogan, E. Ingersoll, A. Foss and J. Herter, "The ETI Nuclear Cost Drivers Project: Summary Report," 2018.
- [5] A. Abou-Jaoude, Y. Arafat, A. Foss and B. Dixon, "An Economics-by-Design Approach Applied to a Heat Pipe Microreactor Concept," Idaho National Laboratory, Idaho Falls, 2021.
- [6] A. Abou-Jaoude, L. Lin, C. Bolisetti, E. Worsham, L. Larsen and A. Epiney, "Literature Review of Advanced Reactor Cost Estimates," Idaho National Laboratory, Idaho Falls, 2023.
- [7] J. P. J. Buongiorno, M. Corradini and D. Petti., "The future of nuclear energy in a carbon-constrained world," IT Energy Initiative (MITEI), Massachusetts, 2018.
- [8] EPRI, "A Generalized Nuclear Code of Account for Cost Estimation Standardization," EPRI, Palo Alto, 2024.
- [9] C. Bolisetti, A. Abou Jaoude, B. Hanna, L. M. Larsen, J. Zhou and K. Shirvan, "Quantifying Capital Cost Reduction Pathways for Advanced Nuclear Reactors," INL, Idaho Falls, 2024.
- [10] Abb/Combustion Engineering, "Modular High Temperature Gas-Cooled Reactor Commercialization And Generation Cost Estimates," 1994.
- [11] Bechtel National, "Modular High Temperature Gas-Cooled Reactor Plant Capital And Busbar Generation Cost Estimates," 1987.
- [12] U.S. DOE, "Phase 9 update (1987) report for the Energy Economic Data Base Program EEDB-IX.," U.S. Department of Energy Office of Program Support Plans and Evaluation, Washington, DC., 1987.
- [13] D. E. Holcomb, F. J. Peretz and A. L. Qualls, "Advanced High Temperature Reactor Systems and Economic Analysis".
- [14] World Bank, "databank.worldbank.org," 5 August 2024. [Online]. Available: https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-developmentindicators/Series/PA.NUS.PPP.
- [15] IndexBox, "IndexBox," 5 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.indexbox.io/store/united-states-of-america-bars-and-rods-of-iron-or-steelhot-rolled-market-report-analysis-and-forecast-to-2020/.
- [16] "ILOSTAT," 5 August 2024. [Online]. Available: https://ilostat.ilo.org/topics/wages/#.

- [17] ILOSTAT, "ILOSTAT," 18 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://ilostat.ilo.org/topics/wages/.
- [18] Index Box, "Country Specific Steel and Cement Costs," Indexbox Market Intelligence Platform, 2021.
- [19] U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Federal Reserve Bank (FRED) of St. Louis," 11 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/WPU801104.
- [20] S&P Global Market Intelligence, "Chinese nuke marks 1st successful startup of AP1000 reactor," 8 July 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/newsinsights/trending/au\_fzdmxtshbhvkktxk8la2.
- [21] P. Voosen, "How Long Can a Nuclear Reactor Last?," 2009.
- [22] E. Ng, "CGN Power's latest project delay deals another blow to China's nuclear energy ambition," 2 January 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.scmp.com/business/companies/article/2126529/cgn-powers-latest-projectdelay-deals-another-blow-chinas-nuclear.
- [23] Cornell Law School, "42 U.S. Code § 10222 Nuclear Waste Fund," 2024.
- [24] T. Dujardin, "Projected costs of generating electricity 2005 update," Organization for Economic Co Operation and Development, 2005.
- [25] U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Decommissioning nuclear reactors is a long-term and costly process," 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=33792#:~:text=In%20both%20cases%2C%20operators%20currently,plant%20operator%20creates%20during%20construction.
- [26] Callan Institute, "Nuclear Decommissioning Funding Study," 2019.
- [27] Dominion Energy, Inc., Bechtel Power Corporation, TLG INC and MPR Associates, "Study of Construction Technologies and Schedules, O&M Staffing and Cost, Decommissioning Costs and Funding Requirements for Advanced Reactor Designs," 2004.
- [28] IAEA, "IAEA Power Reactor Information System (PRIS)," 2023.
- [29] DOE-NE, "U.S. Department of Energy," 1 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/whats-lifespan-nuclear-reactor-much-longer-youmight-think.
- [30] NEA, "Technical and Economic aspects of load-following with nuclear power plants," Nuclear Energy Agency, Paris, France, 2011.
- [31] EPRI, "Advanced Light Water Reactor Utility Requirements Document," Electric Power Research Institute, 1999.
- [32] J. K. Persson, A. H. Henriksson, J. Loberg, C. Malm, L. Pettersson, J. Sandström and T. Sigfrids, "Additional Costs for Load-following Nuclear Power Plants," Elforsk rapport 12:71, 2012.
- [33] N. E. Stauff, J. Zhou, I. G. Lantgios, H. Mantripragada, S. Leptinsky and S. Homsy, "Technical and economic compatibility analysis of various reactor types to support negative emission technologies. ANL/NSE-24/60.," ANL, 2024.

- [34] Nuclear Regulatory Comission, "Steam and Power Conversion System," 2011. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0832/ML083230196.pdf. [Accessed May 2023].
- [35] T. K. Kim, C. Grandy and R. N. Hill, "A 100 MWe advanced sodium-cooled fast reactor core concept," 2012.
- [36] J. J. Sienicki, A. Moisseytsev and Q. Lv, "DRY AIR COOLING AND THE sCO2 BRAYTON CYCLE," in *Proceedings of ASME Turbo Expo 2017: Turbomachinery Technical Conference and Exposition*, Charlotte, NC, 2017.
- [37] V. Novotny, J. Kim, S. Creasman, L. WIlliams and D. Mikkelson, "Preliminary Process and Instrumentation Design of Advanced Reactor Integration with Refineries and Hydrogen Production Facilities. INL/RPT-24-76271 Rev. 1.," Idaho National Laboratory, 2024.
- [38] X-Energy, LLC, "Submittal of X Energy, LLC (X-energy) White Paper: Xe-100 Plant Control and Data Acquisition System, Revision 3," 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML2304/ML23048A309.pdf. [Accessed April 2024].
- [39] International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), "Guidance on Nuclear Energy Cogeneration," Vienna, 2019.
- [40] D. S. Wendt, T. Knighton and R. D. Boardman, "High-Temperature Steam Electrolysis Process Performance and Cost Estimates," Idaho National Laboratory, 2022.
- [41] J. e. a. Prosser, "Cost analysis of hydrogen production by high-temperature solid oxide electrolysis," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 2024.
- [42] M. S. A. T. S. C. V. a. G. G. Holst, "Cost Forecast for Low Temperature Electrolysis Technology Driven Bottom-up Prognosis for PEM and Alkaline Water Electrolysis Systems," Fraunhofer Institute for Solar Energy Systems ISE, , 2021.
- [43] Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), "Current and Past Use of District Energy Using Nuclear Power: A Review of Nuclear District Energy Facilities," 2022.
- [44] M. Lipka and A. Rajewski, "Regress in nuclear district heating. The need for rethinking cogeneration," *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, vol. 130, 2020.
- [45] Finbox, "Finbox," 3 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://finbox.com/NYSE:POR/explorer/.
- [46] Gurufocus, "Total Energies Mareting Datbase," 2023.
- [47] R. Dornbusch, "Purchasing Power Parity," *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics*, pp. 1075-85, 1987.
- [48] K. Froot and K. Rogoff, "Perspectives on PPP and Long-Run Real Exchange Rates," *Handbook of International Economics*, vol. 3, pp. 1647-88, 1995.
- [49] P. Asea and W. Corden, "The Balassa-Samuelson model: An overview," *Review of International Economics*, pp. 191-200, 1994.
- [50] E. Ortiz-Ospina and M. Molteni, "OurWorldInData.org," 2017. [Online]. Available: https://ourworldindata.org/what-are-ppps.
- [51] Global Petrol Prices, "Electricity prices," 28 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.globalpetrolprices.com/electricity\_prices/.

- [52] ITC, "International Trade Center," 1 August 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.macmap.org/.
- [53] PwC, "TaxSummaries," 14 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://taxsummaries.pwc.com/.
- [54] Tax Foundation, "TaxFoundation.org," 18 July 2024. [Online]. Available: https://taxfoundation.org/location/chile/.
- [55] Nuclear Energy Institute, "Nuclear Costs In Context," Nuclear Energy Institute, Washington, DC., 2022.
- [56] NREL, "COST AND PERFORMANCE DATA FOR POWER GENERATION TECHNOLOGIES," Black&Veatch, 2012.
- [57] L. T. Knighton, A. Shigrekar, H. Bryan, C. Otani, D. Wendt, P. Talbot and R. Boardman, "Market Opportunities and Analysis of Nuclear Coupled HTSE Hydrogen Production," INL, Idaho Falls, 2023.
- [58] "cbrates," 24 June 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.cbrates.com/.
- [59] W. R. Stewart and K. Shirvan, "Capital cost estimation for advanced nuclear power plants," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 2022.
- [60] Westinghouse Nuclear, "AP1000 Pressurized Water Reactor," Westinghouse, May 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.westinghousenuclear.com/energy-systems/ap1000pwr.
- [61] NRC, "Submittal of X Energy, LLC (XTenergy) White Paper: XeT100 Plant Control and Data Acquisition System, Revision 3," Rockville, MD, 2023.

## 7. APPENDIX

## 7.1. Appendix A – Cost of Capital

While not a primary focus of this report, some research was done into the expected cost of capital for nuclear projects and how this may vary between NZW countries. The cost of capital was taken considering the ownership class (public or private) of the energy companies/utilities in each country. When the ownership is public, data from the short-term interest rate from each central bank was taken from Reference [45]. For those countries with private utilities, the data was taken from Reference [46].

Between countries, it is necessary to take into account inflation and exchange rate variations to explain the different rates. They are not independent from the weighted average cost of capital (WACC). Also, it is vital to note that the WACC is expressed in the currency of each country. So, a higher WACC does not mean a higher internal rate of return in dollars. When the WACC is transformed from the country currency to dollars using the exchange rate, it will result in a lower WACC in dollars closer to the United States, and the difference will be the risk premium.

The interest rate from the central bank (in this case for Ukraine) is the nominal short-term interest rate not adjusted by inflation and controlled by the central bank authority representing the opportunity cost of the economy (i.e., it is the minimum rate that another investment should pay if they want to be competitive against the central bank by putting money in the bank instead of in any investment). The short-term rate is the only variable the central bank controls (as is the case in most countries in the world). Furthermore, the concatenation of the short-term interest rate will be the long-term rate. In summary, the short-term rate can be used for long-term modeling and recovery and post-recovery investments. In the long run, it is assumed that the variables tend to return to their steady state (long-term equilibrium) position, and furthermore, there should not be a difference between the interest rate of the central bank and any other interest rate of the economy.

Country	Owner	WACC
United States	Public/Private	[5%;10.8%]
Chile	Private	11.30%
Indonesia	Public	5.75%
Egypt	Public	18.25%
Nigeria	Private	8.88%
Argentina	Public	91%
Thailand	Public	2%
India	Public/Private	[4.54%;6.5%]
Ukraine	Public	25%
South Africa	Public	8.25%

Table A-1. Country-specific weighted average cost of capital by ownership type.

### 7.2. Appendix B – Labor Productivity Differences

As discussed in the main body, one limitation of the high-level translation of costs from the United States to NZW participants was that this did not account for granularity in the wages and

hour spent in construction. While changes in productivity will also have an impact on labor costs (countries with less productive construction labor will require more hours incurring more cost to complete the project), this is not entirely captured by the high-level cost estimation used here. However, productivity changes are partly captured in the index selected to normalize energy-specific construction between countries. Starting from the assumption that the price of a given good is the sum of the inputs used directly and indirectly in its productivity level in each country (steel, cement, etc.) results from the capital productivity level in each industry, the cost of inputs for production, plus the cost of workers' hours (wages). If cement is cheaper in country A, this would also indicate that the capital could be more productive, but it could also be because the wage paid there is lower, or the minimum wage is lower, or some other production input is cheaper, etc. In this sense, it becomes relevant to understand what could happen to the workers' wages.

It is possible to write the wage in one country as a function of four variables as follows:

Wage = f(labor skill, min wage policy, labor bargaining power, labor productivity)

Furthermore, it is not easy to differentiate and measure the effect of each variable on the final cost of a commodity. Based on the minimum wage, bargaining power and worker skills are relatively fixed in the short and medium run. For instance, governments are not changing minimum wage from year-to-year, they are not enacting laws giving more bargaining power to workers, and workers are not obtaining new qualification each year. It can be assumed that the change in cost year-to-year is due to productivity changes or because costs of a critical input used in the production process went down (e.g., because of subsidized electricity or the use of strategic oil reserves that decrease oil prices).

Differentiating the effects of variables on cost levels is only important when working with time series rather than a specific point in time. Higher productivity should be reflected in the lower production costs and lower market prices of the corresponding prices of inputs or final goods even when the hours worked are not considered, as this study is using monetary values (physical quantity times a price) and not only physical quantities, but the effect of productivity is also implicitly included. For instance, higher productivity (from labor and capital) relates to lower production costs of the commodities used directly and indirectly in the reactor's construction project. Furthermore, higher productivity could be reflected in lower monetary values. If a productivity effect is added, it will essentially be counted twice because the prices already reflect the productivity effect.

#### 7.3. Appendix C – Gross Fixed Capital Formation Components Description

The index included in the GFCF by country is presented below. Note the costs are significatively different for each country relative to the United States.

**Machinery and Equipment:** This ICP classification heading covers expenditures for fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment; electrical and optical equipment; general purpose machinery; special purpose machinery; road transport equipment; and other transport equipment.



Figure 16. Price-level machinery and equipment by country.

**Construction:** This ICP classification heading covers expenditures for residential buildings; non-residential buildings; and civil engineering works.





**Other Products:** This ICP classification heading covers expenditures for other products related with the gross fixed capital formation.



Figure 18. Price-level other products by country.

# 7.4. Appendix D – Preconstruction and Supplementary Cost Categorization

Note that for preconstruction and supplementary costs, it was assumed that large reactors and SMRs have identical breakouts.

Account Number	Account Description	Labor	Other
11	Land and Land Rights	0%	100%
12	Site Permits	0%	100%
13	Plant Licensing	100%	0%
14	Plant Permits	0%	100%
15	Plant Studies	100%	0%
16	Plant Reports	100%	0%
17	Community Outreach and Education	NA	NA

Table 27	Preconstruction	cost	breakout
	. FIECONSULCTION	COSL	Diearoul.

Account Number	Account Description	Labor	Other
18	Other Pre-Construction Costs	100%	0%
19	Contingency on Preconstruction Costs	0%	100%

#### Table 28. Supplementary cost breakout.

Account Number	Account Description	Labor	Other
51	Taxes	0%	100%
52	Insurance	0%	100%
53	Spent Fuel Storage	NA	NA
54	Decommissioning	0%	100%
55	Other Owners' Costs	NA	NA
56	Fees	NA	NA
57	Management Reserve	NA	NA
59	Supplementary Contingencies	0%	100%